
COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE AGENDA 

Tuesday, November 14, 2023, 5:30pm 

Council Chambers 

Municipal Administration Building 

285 Beech Hill Road 

Beech Hill, NS B2G 0B4 

1. Call to Order – Chair, Warden Owen McCarron

2. Approval of Agenda

3. Approval of October 24, 2023 Committee of the Whole Minutes

4. Business Arising from the Minutes

5. Continuing Business

a. Boundary Review Phase One Summary Report

6. New Business

a. Winter Parking Regulations

b. 2020 – 2024 Strategic Priorities Update

c. Authorization of Arena Capital Over-run

7. Community Events

This item provides Councillors with an opportunity to briefly bring to the attention of

Council events that are taking place in their communities.

8. Staff Reports

9. Additions to the Agenda

10. In-Camera Items

a. Personnel Matters

b. Contract Negotiations

11. Adjournment

Agenda Page 1 of 70



CODES: BOLD CAPITALS = NOW Priorities; CAPITALS = NEXT Priorities; Regular Title Case = Operational Strategies 

STRATEGIC PRIORITIES CHART (amended October 2022)

1. RENEWABLE ENERGY: Options Development . 

2. PAQTNKEK PARTNERSHIP: Transition Plan from CEDI & Key Milestones for 2020 – Sept 2019.

3. ACCESSIBILITY:  Improvements and Engagement

COUNCIL PRIORITIES 
NOW 

1. WATER UTILITY DEVELOPMENT
a. Expansion & Renew Aging Infrastructure
b. Securing Long-Term Source Water
c. Long-Term Financial Plan

2. DEVELOP & IMPLEMENT AN EVENTS & TOURISM PLAN
3. CONNECTIVITY – CELLULAR AND BROADBAND
4. RENEWABLE ENERGY

5. NEXT GEN SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT

NEXT 
• ASSET MANAGEMENT PLAN: Update & Implementation

• ACTIVE TRANSPORTATION PLAN: Implementation

• COMMUNITY HUBS: Plan & Implementation

ADVOCACY/PARTNERSHIPS 
Connectivity Funding (Prov & Feds) 
TIR Service Provision (Prov) 
Long-Term Care Facility Funding (Prov) 
Aging In Place Program (Prov) 
Accessible/Affordable Housing 

ADMINISTRATION FINANCE 
1. CELLULAR & BROADBAND CONNECTIVITY
2. EVENTS & TOURISM
3. ASSET MANAGEMENT

1. INFRASTRUCTURE FUNDING:  Plan &
Implementation - Ongoing

PUBLIC WORKS RECREATION 
1. WATER UTILITY DEVELOPMENT
2. NEXT GEN SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT

1. ACTIVE TRANSPORTATION
2. COMMUNITY HUBS

SUSTAINABILITY PLANNING 

1. RENEWABLE ENERGY

• LCC

• COMMUNITY SOLAR PROJECT

1. MANDATORY MINIMUM PLANNING: Development
& Implementation
2. EASTERN ANTIGONISH PLANNING STRATEGY &
BYLAW: Complete Review

Agenda Page 2 of 70



Committee of the Whole Meeting Minutes 

Tuesday October 24, 2023, 6:30 pm 

Council Chambers 

Municipal Administration Building 

285 Beech Hill Road 

Beech Hill, NS B2G 0B4 

Present were: Warden Owen McCarron 

Acting Deputy Warden Bill MacFarlane 

Councillor Mary MacLellan 

Councillor Donnie MacDonald 

Councillor Shawn Brophy 

Councillor Remi Deveau  

Councillor John Dunbar 

Councillor Gary Mattie  

Councillor Harris McNamara 

Regrets: Deputy Warden Hugh Stewart 

Staff Present: Glenn Horne, CAO 

Beth Schumacher, Deputy Clerk 

Others Present: Gallery 

Call to Order – Chairman, Warden Owen McCarron 

The meeting of the Committee of the Whole was called to order by the Chair, Warden 

McCarron, at 6:50pm. 

Approval of Agenda 

Warden McCarron called for any additions or deletions to the agenda.    A request was 

made to add a request to send a letter to the Minister of Public Works and local MLAs 

regarding the proposed roundabout at the intersection of Trunk 4 and Trunk 16 in 

Monastery. 

Moved and Seconded 

That the agenda be approved as amended. 

Motion Carried 

Agenda Page 3 of 70



October 24, 2023 Committee of the Whole Minutes 2 

Approval of October 10, 2023 Committee of the Whole Minutes 

Warden McCarron called for any errors or omissions in the Committee of the Whole 

minutes of October 10, 2023.  

Moved and Seconded 

That the minutes of October 10, 2023 be approved as presented. 

Motion Carried 

Business Arising from the Minutes 

There was no business arising from the minutes. 

Delegations 

There were no delegations.   

Continuing Business 

Update on Requested Consolidation with the Town of Antigonish 

Mr. Horne provided an update to the committee, noting that the request for 

consolidation legislation was not expected to proceed to the fall sitting of the 

Legislature as the Province is waiting for the outcome of the court action heard earlier 

in the summer.  Questions from the committee included a question of clarification 

regarding the impact of the court action on the Province’s ability to make a decision on 

the request, the Town’s decision at their meeting last week to stop work with Iris 

Communications, questions about the boundary review, and the 2024 municipal 

election.  A question was also asked whether the UARB timelines for the boundary 

review and the upcoming election would mean that time is running out for consideration 

of consolidation.  Discussion followed.     

New Business 

Legislation Affecting Municipal Government 

Mr. Horne spoke to two bills before the Provincial Government regarding municipalities. 

Bill 329, to amend the Halifax Regional Municipality Charter, has no immediate bearing 

on Antigonish County but has had quite a bit of media coverage over the last few 

weeks.  The second matter, the Municipal Reform Act, was introduced and addresses 

the Municipal Service Exchange matters discussed earlier in the year with the 

exception of the “Part B” proposal regarding roads.   

If this legislation passes, the Municipality will no longer have to collect and remit the 

mandatory contributions for public housing or corrections.  Clarification regarding 

education funding, which was not a part of the most recent service exchange 

discussions, was provided.  Two schools in the county, St. Andrews Consolidated and 

HM MacDonald, would be impacted by proposed amendments included in the 

Agenda Page 4 of 70



 

October 24, 2023 Committee of the Whole Minutes 3 

Municipal Reform Act where they would remain with the Province if closed instead of 

reverting back to the Municipality.  Correspondence from Minister Lohr and the NSFM 

were distributed to the committee for further information.     

Community Events 

• Councillor Dunbar shared that on Saturday November 4th the Heatherton Parish 

Bazaar will be held at the Heatherton Community Centre.  There will also be a hot 

roast beef dinner being held that evening.   

• Councillor Deveau noted that planning is underway for the Remembrance Day 

ceremonies in Pomquet, and the Senior’s Christmas Dinner on December 3rd. 

• Deputy Warden MacFarlane attended the Chamber of Commerce dinner and 

attended the Pomquet School fundraiser held in St. Andrews over the past 

weekend.   

• Councillor MacLellan provided community centre updates about a new 

shuffleboard courtyard, floor curling, and planning for a dinner and dance planning.  

Councillor MacLellan also shared an article in an international art magazine 

featuring local artist Jaye Ouellette and asked that a letter of congratulations be 

sent from Council.   

• Councillor Mattie noted that a Hallowe’en Dance is taking place in his community 

on Saturday October 28th. 

• Councillor McNamara has made arrangements for a mobile flu vaccine clinic in 

Havre Boucher.  He also noted that on October 22nd, a performance was held at 

the community centre.  Remembrance Day ceremony planning is underway for 

November 5th, and December 9th is the planned date for the holiday parade. 

• Warden McCarron noted that the poppy campaign kickoff will take place on Friday 

October 27th.  The Antigonish Women’s Resource is celebrating their 40th 

anniversary Saturday October 28th, and Remembrance Day ceremonies are 

planned to take place in Town at the Cenotaph on November 11th.  The NSFM 

Conference will take place later next week in Halifax.  Later this week, a meeting 

of the Community Health Board is scheduled.  A Veteran’s Dinner is taking place 

at the Legion on October 29th, and a flu shot clinic in St. Andrews is taking place 

on October 28th. 

Reports from Inter-Municipal Boards, Committees, and Commissions 

Antigonish Heritage Museum Board 

• The board met on October 16th.  The new outdoor sign has been installed, the 

board is looking for a new Treasurer, a volunteer event is planned in late 

 
 

Agenda Page 5 of 70



 

October 24, 2023 Committee of the Whole Minutes 4 

November, the annual meeting is planned for April, and the next Board meeting 

is on Monday November 6th. 

Antigonish Arena Association 

• The board met on October 11th.  A report was given to the board on the 

condenser and chiller.  Cost overruns on the condenser and chiller are 

expected to be brought before Council.  Phase one of accessibility upgrades 

are nearly complete, and accessible doors and a design for an accessible 

washroom and dressing room are underway.  A suggestion was shared to look 

at the new accessible seating area installed at the arena. 

Eastern District Planning Commission 

• Waiting for the next meeting to be scheduled. 

Eastern Regional Solid Waste Management Committee 

• Nothing to report. 

Pictou Antigonish Regional Library 

• At the last Board meeting, staff provided presentations on the various programs 

that are offered by the library.  Councillor MacLellan provided an overview of 

the summary prepared by the library. 

RK MacDonald Nursing Home 

• The Board is meeting on Thursday October 26th. 

County Paqtnkek Joint Steering Committee 

• Mr. Horne noted that Paqtnkek recently held nominations for Chief and Council, 

with elections being held later in the fall.  Mr. Horne also noted that former 

Councillor Darlene (Dolly) Prosper passed away, and condolences were 

expressed.  Mr. Horne also noted that Daryl Macdonald has left Paqtnkek and 

is now the Chief Executive Officer at Potlotek First Nation in Richmond County.  

Warden McCarron shared that Bayside Centre won an award at the recent 

Chamber dinner. 

Consolidation Steering Committee 

• Nothing to report. 

Community Navigation and Physician Retention Services Association 

• Nothing to report. 

 
 

Agenda Page 6 of 70



 

October 24, 2023 Committee of the Whole Minutes 5 

Additions to the Agenda 

Letter Regarding the Roundabout as a Priority on at Trunk 4 and Trunk 16 in 

Monastery 

Councillor Mattie raised a concern with the information shared earlier in the evening 

by the Department of Public Works team at Asset Management, when it was noted that 

the roundabout planned at the intersection of Trunk 4 at Trunk 16 would be deferred 

for a third time.  A letter to the Minister, MLAs, and Warden Pitts was requested, to 

express concern with the continued deferral of this project when it is a priority to the 

community to address safety concerns. 

Moved and Seconded 

The Committee recommends that Municipal Council send a letter to Minister 

Masland, MLAs Thompson and Morrow, and Warden Pitts regarding concern with 

the deferral of the construction of the roundabout at the intersection of Trunk 4 and 

Trunk 16 in Monastery, due to its priority to the community to address safety 

concerns. 

Motion Carried 

In-Camera Items 

There are no in-camera items. 

Adjournment 

Moved 

That the Committee of the Whole meeting be adjourned at 7:32pm. 

Motion Carried 

 

 

   

Warden Owen McCarron  Glenn Horne, CAO 

 

 
 

Agenda Page 7 of 70



 
 

ANTIGONISH COUNTY 
ELECTORAL BOUNDARY REVIEW 
Council Size Report 

November 10, 2023 

Prepared for: 
Municipality of the Council of Antigonish 

Prepared by: 
Stantec Consulting Limited 

Project Number: 
160401891 

 

 
 

Agenda Page 8 of 70



 
 

Agenda Page 9 of 70



Antigonish County Electoral Boundary Review 

   
 

The conclusions in the Report titled Antigonish Electoral Boundary Review are Stantec’s professional 

opinion, as of the time of the Report, and concerning the scope described in the Report. The opinions in 

the document are based on conditions and information existing at the time the scope of work was 

conducted and do not take into account any subsequent changes. The Report relates solely to the 

specific project for which Stantec was retained and the stated purpose for which the Report was 

prepared. The Report is not to be used or relied on for any variation or extension of the project, or for any 

other project or purpose, and any unauthorized use or reliance is at the recipient’s own risk. 

Stantec has assumed all information received from Municipality of the Council of Antigonish (the “Client”) 

and third parties in the preparation of the Report to be correct. While Stantec has exercised a customary 

level of judgment or due diligence in the use of such information, Stantec assumes no responsibility for 

the consequences of any error or omission contained therein. 

This Report is intended solely for use by the Client in accordance with Stantec’s contract with the Client. 

While the Report may be provided to applicable authorities having jurisdiction and others for whom the 

Client is responsible, Stantec does not warrant the services to any third party. The report may not be 

relied upon by any other party without the express written consent of Stantec, which may be withheld at 

Stantec’s discretion. 

Prepared by: 
 

 

Signature 

 

 

 

Printed Name 

Reviewed by: 
 

 

Signature 

 

 

 

Printed Name 

Approved by: 
 

 

Signature 

 

 

 

Printed Name 

 
 

Agenda Page 10 of 70



 
 

Agenda Page 11 of 70



Antigonish County Electoral Boundary Review 

 

i 
 

Table of Contents 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ........................................................................................................... III 

1 INTRODUCTION ........................................................................................................... 1 
1.1 Project Mandate ............................................................................................................................ 1 
1.2 Study Process ............................................................................................................................... 1 
1.3 Study Conduct ............................................................................................................................... 2 

2 CURRENT GOVERNANCE .......................................................................................... 3 
2.1 Council Size ................................................................................................................................... 3 
2.1.1 Nova Scotia Benchmarking ........................................................................................................... 3 
2.1.2 Current and Future Population ...................................................................................................... 5 
2.2 Council Consultation ...................................................................................................................... 7 
2.3 Community Consultation ............................................................................................................... 8 
2.3.1 Council Size Public Meeting .......................................................................................................... 8 
2.3.2 Online Council Size Survey ........................................................................................................... 8 
2.3.3 Council Size Considerations ....................................................................................................... 12 
2.3.4 Other Considerations ................................................................................................................... 14 

3 PAST BOUNDARY REVIEWS .................................................................................... 16 
3.1 1999 Boundary Review ............................................................................................................... 16 
3.2 2006 Boundary Review ............................................................................................................... 17 
3.3 2014 Boundary Review ............................................................................................................... 18 
3.4 Summary ..................................................................................................................................... 19 

4 BOUNDARY DELINEATION ...................................................................................... 20 
4.1 Boundary Criteria ......................................................................................................................... 20 
4.1.1 Number of Electors ...................................................................................................................... 20 
4.1.2 Relative Parity of Voting Power ................................................................................................... 20 
4.1.3 Population Density ....................................................................................................................... 21 
4.1.4 Community of Interest ................................................................................................................. 21 
4.1.5 Geographic Size .......................................................................................................................... 22 
4.2 Preliminary Boundary Scenarios ................................................................................................. 22 
4.2.1 Ten-District Scenarios ................................................................................................................. 24 
4.2.2 Eight-District Scenario ................................................................................................................. 28 
4.2.3 Nine-District Scenario .................................................................................................................. 28 
4.3 Summary and Recommendation ................................................................................................. 31 
4.3.1 Summary ..................................................................................................................................... 31 
4.3.2 Recommendation ........................................................................................................................ 32 
4.3.3 Next Steps ................................................................................................................................... 32 

 
  

 
 

Agenda Page 12 of 70



Antigonish County Electoral Boundary Review 

 

ii 
 

LIST OF TABLES 
Table 3-1 Voters by Polling District, Antigonish County, Modified Purple Option, 2000 ........................ 17 
Table 3-2 Voters by Polling District, Antigonish County, 2007 ............................................................... 18 
Table 3-3 Voters by Polling District, Antigonish County, 2012 ............................................................... 19 

LIST OF FIGURES 

Figure 2-1 Council Size and Measures of Council Size, Nova Scotia Rural Municipalities, 2023 ............ 4 
Figure 2-2 Population by Age Group, Municipality of theCounty of Antigonish, 2006-2031 ..................... 6 
Figure 2-3 Council Size Survey Respondents by District, Antigonish County, 2023 ................................ 9 
Figure 2-4 Ratings of Council Performance, Antigonish County, 2023 ................................................... 10 
Figure 2-5 Council Size Preferences, Antigonish County, 2023 ............................................................. 11 
Figure 2-6 Respondents Citing Boundary Concerns, Antigonish County, 2023 ..................................... 12 
Figure 4-1 Current Electoral Districts and NSCAF Communities, Antigonish County, 2023 .................. 23 
Figure 4-2 Proposed Ten Electoral Districts, Antigonish County, 2023 .................................................. 25 
Figure 4-3 Proposed Ten Electoral Districts, Adjusted for Acadian Communities, Antigonish County, 

2023........................................................................................................................................ 26 
Figure 4-4 Proposed Ten Electoral Districts, Minimum Adjustment, Antigonish County, 2023............... 27 
Figure 4-5 Proposed Eight Electoral Districts, Antigonish County, 2023 ................................................ 29 
Figure 4-6 Proposed Nine Electoral Districts, Antigonish County, 2023 ................................................. 30 
 
APPENDIX A COUNCIL SIZE SURVEY RESULTS 
 

 
 

Agenda Page 13 of 70



Antigonish County Electoral Boundary Review 

 

iii 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

INTRODUCTION 

Previous boundary reviews for the Municipality of the County of Antigonish were completed pursuant to 

the current legislation in 2000, 2007 and 2015. In all three cases the County applied to maintain its 

Council at ten members and obtained approval from the Nova Scotia Utility and Review Board 

(NSUARB), although the Municipality’s initial application in 2007 was returned by the Board because it did 

not satisfy the Board’s specified criteria. 

This report addresses the first phase of Stantec’s review Antigonish Council arrangements approved in 

2015. It summarizes consultation with County Council and residents to date and presents options for 

future boundaries to be considered in Phase 2 of this project.  

CURRENT GOVERNANCE 

Antigonish is tied with Kings County with the seventh largest council among Nova Scotia's 20 rural 

municipalities. The Municipality ranks ninth in terms of constituents per council member, 17th by land 

area per district, and 16th in terms of total municipal expenditure per council member. Population in the 

county has historically grown steadily but moderately, including an increase of 3.7%. We anticipate 

stronger growth in the immediate future with 923 additional residents by 2031 and another 770 by 2036. 

Council members interviewed generally expressed positive attitudes concerning interaction among 

members, although most acknowledged that the issue of consolidation with the Town of Antigonish has 

been divisive. While Council members did not directly criticize the current number of members, most 

expressed a willingness to consider a smaller Council.  

While Council members did not directly criticize the current number of members, six Councillors said that 

a reduction of Council size could be considered with five suggesting eight or nine members in light of 

information provided to them by Stantec that indicated the average rural municipal council in Nova Scotia 

has an average of 8.6 members. Most feel the number of members makes no difference. The remaining 

four feel ten continues to be workable, although one qualified that they felt staying with the status quo 

was only advisable until the consolidation issue is resolved.  

Respondents to our online survey strongly favoured the current Council of ten (59.5% of 190 respondents 

to the question). The next two choices were an enlarged Council of12 and a moderately reduced Council 

of eight, both of which were supported by 6.8% of respondents to the question. The minimum option of 

three ranked fourth with the support of 5.9%. The average response was 9.1 Council members. 

  

 
 

Agenda Page 14 of 70



Antigonish County Electoral Boundary Review 

 

iv 
 

PAST BOUNDARY REVIEWS 

The three boundary review processes conducted in Antigonish County since 1999, have not been entirely 

smooth. In 2000, the Councillor representing District 1 objected to an adjustment to the boundary of her 

district approved by Council and submitted to the NSUARB for approval. The Board accepted her position 

and the boundary of her district was maintained and the Board made alternative boundary adjustments. In 

2007, the County applied for approval of its Council size and confirmation of the electoral district 

boundaries approved in 2000. While the Board accepted the size of Council, it returned the application 

because the proposed boundaries did not meet the ±10% voter parity criterion. The County’s most recent 

application in 2015, however, was approved as submitted by the Board. 

BOUNDARY DELINEATION 

Section 368 (4) of the MGA sets criteria that the NSUARB must consider in establishing the boundaries of 

polling or electoral districts within municipalities: 

In determining the number and boundaries of polling districts the Board shall consider number of 
electors, relative parity of voting power, population density, community of interest and geographic size. 

The leading criteria are voter parity, which is reflected in the requirement of the NSUARB that the number 

of electors in each district be within ±10% of the average number of electors in all districts, and 

community of interest. 

For discussion with Council, we have developed scenarios for eight, nine, and ten districts, reflecting two 

of the three council sizes that received the most support from respondents to the Council Size Survey 

with nine added at the request of municipal staff. Given the overwhelming support expressed through our 

survey for continuing with ten members, we developed three scenarios for ten districts. The first, Scenario 

1, minimizes variance in the numbers of electors in each district. Scenario 2 provides an alternative to the 

first scenario by bringing the Acadian communities of Pomquet and Tracadie together in a single district. 

Scenario 3 adjusts the current boundaries minimally to meet the ±10% parity standard for all districts. 

Scenarios 4, 5, and 6, respectively, provide arrangements for eight, nine, and twelve districts with 

minimum variance.  

We recommend taking Scenario 3 for ten districts along with Scenario 4 for eight districts to the 

public for consideration in Phase 2 of this Electoral Boundary Review. 

 

 
 

Agenda Page 15 of 70



Antigonish County Electoral Boundary Review 
1 Introduction 

 

1 
 

1 INTRODUCTION 

1.1 Project Mandate 

Pursuant to Section 369(1) of the Municipal Government Act (MGA), all Nova Scotia municipalities must 

“conduct a study of the number and boundaries of polling districts in the municipality, their fairness and 

reasonableness and the number of councillors” … “in the years 2006 and every eighth year thereafter.” 

The current year, 2022, starts the fourth cycle since the adoption of the Act.  

Previous boundary reviews for the Municipality of the County of Antigonish were completed pursuant to 

the current legislation in 2000, 2007 and 2015. In all three cases the County applied to maintain its 

Council at ten members and obtained approval from the Nova Scotia Utility and Review Board 

(NSUARB), although the Municipality’s initial application in 2007 was returned by the Board because it did 

not satisfy the Board’s specified criteria. 

The current study will assess the Council size and boundaries approved by the NSUARB in 2015. It 

includes comparison of Antigonish County’s current Council size to similar Nova Scotia municipalities, a 

summary of consultation with County Council members, and the results of consultation with Antigonish 

residents through a public meeting and online survey. Applying the process recommended by the Utility 

and Review Board, Stantec in this report has assessed options for the size of Antigonish County Council 

and developed electoral district boundary options for Council to consider putting forward for assessment 

by the public. 

1.2 Study Process 

Having completed many boundary review studies, Stantec staff are very familiar with the specifications of 

the MGA as well as the NSUARB guidelines and priorities concerning the determination of municipal 

council size and delineation of related boundaries. The NSUARB User Guide for boundary reviews has 

prescribed a two-step process for the conduct of polling district boundary reviews. The phases and their 

scope, as outlined in the Board’s user guide, are as follows: 

• Phase 1 – Number of Councillors – … the desired style of Council, the governance structure of 

Council, and a determination of an effective and efficient number of councillors. The style of 

government is a question which should not be decided by council until adequate public 

consultation has occurred respecting the expectation of its constituents. The size of council and 

its governance structure is a matter which can then be determined by Council in an informed 

debate. 

• Phase 2 – Boundaries and Polling Districts – … the task becomes one of distributing the 

polling districts to satisfy the objectives listed in s. 368(4) of the Act (number of electors, relative 

 
 

Agenda Page 16 of 70



Antigonish County Electoral Boundary Review 
1 Introduction 

 

2 
 

parity of voting power, population density, community of interest and geographic size). Just as 

with determining the desired number of polling districts, public consultation is essential to a 

successful process of setting boundaries.1 

Our proposal submitted to the Municipality of the County of Antigonish on July 14, 2023, committed to 

adhere to these specifications. This Council Size Report completes Phase 1 as set out above, identifying 

and recommending boundary options to be considered in Phase 2 of this project. 

1.3 Study Conduct 

Antigonish County notified Stantec of our selection to conduct an electoral boundary review via email on 

August 9, 2023. Stantec formally began work on the project with a Start-up Meeting on August 12, 2023. 

At that time, we assembled and began to assess information, including past decisions concerning 

Antigonish County and related map files, and information comparing Nova Scotia municipal councils that 

we have assembled through other projects. At the Start-up Meeting we decided to hold a group meeting 

with Council members before proceeding with individual interviews with Councillors. The group meeting 

with Council took place on September 12, after which we interviewed all ten Council members and the 

Municipality’s CAO between September 20 and October 5. In the meantime, we conducted our first phase 

consultation process, which consisted of a public meeting on September 25, 2023, and an online public 

survey that was open from September 18 to October 11.  

As noted, this council size assessment leads into Phase 2 of the project in which we will determine the 

preferred electoral boundary scenario for consideration by District Council. Consultation in Phase 2 will 

include review of boundary scenarios with County Council, a second online survey for district residents, 

and additional public meetings. Our current intention is to conduct three meetings in distributed locations 

within the county. A final decision concerning the number of meetings and their locations will be made 

with County Council and staff at the conclusion of this first phase of the project. On completion of Phase 2 

consultations, we expect to prepare a final report incorporating key content from this report, a summary of 

Phase 2 consultation, and a recommendation concerning the preferred electoral boundary for the district. 

 

 
 
1  NSUARB, “Municipal Boundary User Guide,” no date, p. 2, 

https://nsuarb.novascotia.ca/sites/default/files/nsuarb-222634-v1-user_guide_-_mb_reviews_.pdf 

 
 

Agenda Page 17 of 70



Antigonish County Electoral Boundary Review 
2 Current Governance 

 

3 
 

2 CURRENT GOVERNANCE 

There are no hard and fast rules for determining the number of members a municipal council should 

have. People who favour larger councils usually cite improved service from councillors who have fewer 

constituents and, therefore, more time to deal with individual constituent concerns as a key benefit. Many 

will also argue for more council members where a large geographic territory must be covered and will 

often add that more voices in council provide more scope for the expression of diverse interests, 

particularly interests associated with specific geographies. The arguments for smaller councils, by 

contrast, usually centre on efficiency. Excessive numbers of council members can extend council debates 

as each member seeks to have his or her say. Additional members also usually require more direct 

compensation and more municipal staff support, increasing municipal costs that taxpayers must cover. 

2.1 Council Size 

Under Nova Scotia’s Municipal Government Act (MGA) councils must have a minimum of three members, 

exclusive of a mayor but inclusive of a warden. Towns and regional municipalities must elect a mayor. 

Rural municipalities have traditionally been led by wardens; however, the MGA in 1999 introduced the 

option of electing a mayor instead. Among 20 rural municipalities, the Counties of Colchester and Kings, 

and the Municipal District of Lunenburg are now led by mayors. If a rural municipality chooses to move 

from a warden to a mayor, the Act provides no means to return to a warden if the municipality later 

desires to do so. Although towns may elect council members at large or from wards, rural and regional 

municipalities are required to elect councillors from districts, with only one councillor permitted per district. 

The decision to change from a warden to mayor is not within the scope of this boundary review. 

2.1.1 NOVA SCOTIA BENCHMARKING 

As our brief discussion of the pros and cons of larger and smaller councils suggests, key parameters 

against which council sizes are typically judged are the ratios of constituents and land area to councillors, 

and the cost of council. While there are no accepted benchmarks against which a council can be judged 

to have too many or too few members, comparison to other similar municipalities at least gives a measure 

of where Antigonish County stands.  

Antigonish currently has ten councillors, which is tied with Kings County for the seventh most council 

members among Nova Scotia’s 20 rural municipalities and moderately above the average for the group 

(8.6 members). (Figure 2-1a). The land area of Antigonish County is relatively small among the 20 rural 

municipalities, which combined with a relatively large Council puts the County in 17th when measured by 

the land area represented by each Councillor with an average area of 146.3 km2 per Councillor or in area 

ranking tenth among the 20 or roughly 60% of the 238.8 km2 served by the average rural municipal 

councillor (Figure 2-1b). The most heavily emphasized measure, however, is constituents per council 

member by which Antigonish with 1,513 residents per councillor ranks ninth (Figure 2-1c) with 7.2% 

fewer constituents per representative than the average of 1,630 for all Nova Scotia rural municipalities.  

 
 

Agenda Page 18 of 70



Antigonish County Electoral Boundary Review 
2 Current Governance 

 

4 
 

Figure 2-1 Council Size and Measures of Council Size, Nova Scotia Rural Municipalities, 
2023 

a. Council Members (Avg. 8.6) b. Land Area (km2) per Council Member (Avg. 
242.3) 

  
c. Population per Council Member (Avg. 1,630) d. Expenditure ($,000s) per Council Member (Avg. 

$1,821)  

 
 

Source Stantec Consulting Limited 

5

5

5

6

7

7

7

7

8

8

8

9

10

10

11

11

11

12

12

13

0 5 10 15

Barrington
Digby

Richmond
Inverness

Chester
Shelburne
St. Mary's
Yarmouth

Clare
Guysborough

Victoria
Argyle

Antigonish
Kings

Annapolis
East Hants
Lunenburg
Colchester

Pictou
Cumberland

83.7

106.6

126.4

145.3

160.3

160.6

163.5

169.8

209.6

233.2

248.8

259.8

264.6

272.8

288.9

297.7

326.6

331.9

358.9

637.1

0 200 400 600 800

Yarmouth
Clare

Barrington
Antigonish

Chester
Lunenburg
East Hants

Argyle
Kings

Pictou
Richmond
Shelburne

Guysborough
St. Mary's
Annapolis

Colchester
Cumberland

Digby
Victoria

Inverness

318

552

644

806

881

1,004

1,390

1,415

1,500

1,513

1,716

1,720

1,750

2,119

2,185

2,339

3,068

4,945

0 2,000 4,000 6,000

St. Mary's

Guysborough

Shelburne

Victoria

Argyle

Clare

Cumberland

Yarmouth

Chester

Antigonish

Pictou

Richmond

Annapolis

East Hants

Inverness

Lunenburg

Colchester

Kings

$398

$772

$852

$921

$1,203

$1,427

$1,430

$1,471

$1,514

$1,549

$1,770

$2,327

$2,374

$2,545

$2,908

$3,210

$3,406

$3,633

$5,055

$7,103

0 2,000 4,000 6,000 8,000

St. Mary's
Shelburne

Argyle
Clare

Antigonish
Barrington

Pictou
Digby

Yarmouth
Annapolis

Lunenburg
Chester

East Hants
Victoria

Guysborough
Colchester

Cumberland
Richmond
Inverness

Kings

 
 

Agenda Page 19 of 70



Antigonish County Electoral Boundary Review 
2 Current Governance 

 

5 
 

By the final measure shown, expenditure divided by council representatives, the County ranks close to 

the bottom. At $1,202,692 per representative or 51.4% of the average ($2,339,283) Antigonish 

Councillors ranks 16th  suggesting County Council members are responsible for significantly less annual 

expenditure than their counterparts in other Nova Scotia rural municipalities (Figure 2-1d).  

Comparative information on direct compensation of council members is not readily available. CBC did a 

study in 2018 and compiled the salaries paid to council members in all Nova Scotia municipalities. The 

average salary paid to Antigonish County Council member at the time was recorded as $23,472,2 which 

ranked tenth among Nova Scotia rural municipalities in absolute terms and per capita. It was 99.1% of the 

average for all rural municipal council members ($23,677) across the province. 

2.1.2 CURRENT AND FUTURE POPULATION 

Whereas many rural municipalities in Nova Scotia have experienced significant population losses, 

Antigonish County has been more stable. As shown in Figure 2-2, the county’s population rose from 

14,565 in 2006 to 15,105 in 2011 or by 3.7%, based Census of Canada counts. The County, however, 

lost 1.1% of that population in the following five years, recording a population of 14,935 in 2016, before 

once again adding 3.7% between 2016 and 2021 as Nova Scotia’s population generally surged. 

Predictions to 2036 prepared by Stantec based on the age structure of the population and the recent 

positive population trend suggest the County’s recent population growth should strengthen in the coming 

census period. In the longer run, however, we expect the rate of growth to gradually diminish.  

Notwithstanding the gain achieved from 2016 to 2021, population in the county continued to age with the 

proportion under 18 declining from 20.8 to 19.2% and those in child-bearing years from 18 to 44 also 

decreasing from 29.4% to 28.2%. With further decline in both groups, natural increase in the population 

can be expected to fall requiring continued immigration to support continued growth. 

While we anticipate continued substantial increases in the county’s population, we expect the rate of 

increase to decline as local population continues to age. We have also noted from associated 

assessment of the two Census Subdivisions within Antigonish that growth is most likely to occur in the 

western part of the municipality (Antigonish Census Subdivision A). In the east (Antigonish Census 

Subdivision B), our calculations suggest the number of residents, which has decreased in every Census 

period since 2001, will continue to decline despite strong growth in the Paqtnkek Reserve. In the west, we 

expect growth to exceed 10% in each five-year census interval to 2031 and still be over 9% between 

2031 and 2036 growing from 15,495 to 18,072 or by 2,577 people (16.6%), while we expect the east 

 
 
2  CBC News, “Search the salaries and costs of Nova Scotia's municipal councils,” January 3, 2018, 

https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/nova-scotia/search-the-salaries-and-costs-of-nova-scotia-s-municipal-
councils-1.4470447. Salaries apply to wardens, deputy wardens, and mayors as well as regular council 
members and are therefore higher than typical council members received at the time. Average compensation 
ranged from $33,100 in Kings County to just $14,267 in the District of St. Mary’s. 

 
 

Agenda Page 20 of 70

https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/nova-scotia/search-the-salaries-and-costs-of-nova-scotia-s-municipal-councils-1.4470447
https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/nova-scotia/search-the-salaries-and-costs-of-nova-scotia-s-municipal-councils-1.4470447


Antigonish County Electoral Boundary Review 
2 Current Governance 

 

6 
 

despite the presence of Paqtnkek to lose roughly 5% of its residents every five years dropping from 6,505 

to 5,567 (-938 or -14.4%).  

Figure 2-2 Population by Age Group, Municipality of theCounty of Antigonish, 2006-2031 

   
Cohort 2006 2011 2016 2021 2026 2031 2036 

0-14 2,770 2,735 2,605 2,475 2,210 2,048 2,004 

15-24 2,125 1,975 1,680 1,680 1,773 1,734 1,553 

25-34 1,545 1,565 1,425 1,395 1,466 1,693 1,761 

35-44 2,025 1,970 1,785 1,795 2,033 2,054 2,126 

45-54 2,415 2,395 2,110 2,035 2,097 2,281 2,568 

55-64 1,995 2,365 2,470 2,435 2,297 2,245 2,301 

65-74 985 1,325 1,905 2,290 2,515 2,588 2,481 

75-84 520 570 730 1,050 1,480 1,825 2,018 

85+ 185 205 225 340 547 834 1,258 

TOTAL 14,565 15,105 14,935 15,495 16,418 17,302 18,072 

Change  3.7% -1.1% 3.7% 6.0% 5.4% 4.4% 

Proportions of Total Population 

0-17 23.4% 22.0% 20.8% 19.2% 16.7% 14.8% 13.7% 

18-44 34.7% 32.6% 29.4% 28.2% 28.9% 28.7% 27.5% 

45-64 30.3% 31.5% 30.7% 28.8% 26.8% 26.2% 26.9% 

65+ 11.6% 13.9% 19.1% 23.7% 27.7% 30.3% 31.9% 
 

Source  Stantec Consulting Limited 
 

14,565 15,105 14,935 15,495
16,418

17,302
18,072

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

12,000

14,000

16,000

18,000

20,000

2006 2011 2016 2021 2026 2031 2036

0-14 15-24 25-34 35-44 45-54

55-64 65-74 75-84 85+ TOTAL

 
 

Agenda Page 21 of 70



Antigonish County Electoral Boundary Review 
2 Current Governance 

 

7 
 

2.2 Council Consultation 

Council consultation for the Boundary Review took place in two stages. As noted, Stantec agreed to 

conduct a meeting with Council as a group to explain the study process before interviewing Councillors 

individually. During the Committee of the Whole meeting on September 12, Stantec staff provided a 

presentation on the study process and background information collected to that point, which included a 

review of past governance and boundary applications and the benchmarking of Antigonish Council 

membership against other rural municipalities in Nova Scotia summarized in Subsection 2.1.1, above. 

Stantec arranged interviews with the County CAO and all ten Council members afterwards and conducted 

interviews between September 20 and October 5, 2023.  

The current County Council is very experienced. Seven of the current ten Councillors have served 18 or 

more years, with three having won six elections over roughly 30 years each. On average, current Council 

members have served 18 to 19 years. Acclamation is common. Most contested their first election, but 

several have subsequently been acclaimed on one or more occasions. Some, however, have always 

faced some level of opposition. Seven were acclaimed in 2020, when the most candidates in a single 

district was four. Of the remaining three candidates who participated in contested elections, two faced a 

single opponent and the other ran against two.  

Most Council members gave current Council operations and interactions a high rating. On a scale of 1 to 

5 suggested by Stantec’s interviewer, five of nine who provided a number rated Council as a 5 or 

excellent, while others gave rating from 3.5 to 4, except for one who gave a rating of two. Most 

Councillors who rated Council less than 5 noted that differing views on consolidation with the Town of 

Antigonish has been divisive and has caused some tension among members. Even among those who 

rated Council at the top of the scale, several said differing views on consolidation had negatively changed 

the atmosphere of Antigonish County Council. 

The consolidation issue aside, Councillors said they get along well. They say they benefit from their 

experience and the support of capable municipal staff. Several complimented the Warden's leadership. 

Other than tensions caused by the consolidation process, the only other council issue mentioned by more 

than one member was the unfortunate health concerns among some Council members, which all added 

is an issue no one can control. 

While Council members did not directly criticize the current number of members, six Councillors said that 

a reduction of Council size could be considered with five suggesting eight or nine members in light of 

information provided to them by Stantec that indicated the average rural municipal council in Nova Scotia 

has an average of 8.6 members (see Figure 2-1, above). Most feel the number of members makes no 

difference. The remaining four feel ten continues to be workable, although one qualified that they felt 

staying with the status quo was only advisable until the consolidation issue is resolved.  

  

 
 

Agenda Page 22 of 70



Antigonish County Electoral Boundary Review 
2 Current Governance 

 

8 
 

Several councillors said current boundaries are strong and recognizable but most acknowledged shifts in 

numbers among districts, which Stantec had outlined in our presentation to Council, would necessitate 

changes. Several had noted the importance of recognizing Acadian communities such as Pomquet and 

Tracadie following our presentation to the Council group and reinforced that consideration when 

interviews. Several councillors also noted the importance of keeping Paq’tnkek First Nation within one 

district. Some also noted growth in communities around the Town of Antigonish, particularly in the Mount 

Cameron Estates area would be a major factor in determining necessary boundary adjustments.  

2.3 Community Consultation 

Public consultation in the first phase of the study has included a public meeting to obtain the views of the 

public concerning the appropriate size for Antigonish County Council and an online survey exploring the 

same issues. The results of both initiatives were disappointing. 

2.3.1 COUNCIL SIZE PUBLIC MEETING 

Stantec with assistance from Antigonish County staff scheduled a meeting at the Antigonish County 

Municipal Office on Beech Hill Road from 6:00 to 9:00 pm on September 25, 2023. The meeting was 

promoted on the County’s website and through radio notifications that promoted the Council Size Survey. 

Nine people attended the session from Districts 2, 6, 8, and 9 as well as Councillors John Dunbar (District 

7), Gary Mattie (District 8), Harris McNamara (District 9), and Bill MacFarlane (District 10), as well as 

Warden Owen McCarron (District 6).  

Stantec’s consultant talked with residents and Council members in attendance and then made a 

presentation explaining the Electoral Boundary Review process and background concerning Council size. 

Questions from the audience concerned the effect of consolidation on the process, promotion of the 

online survey and the availability of hardcopy questionnaires, the influence of growth on the requirement 

to change boundaries, and the project schedule. With respect to consolidation, Stantec has agreed that 

work on the boundary review can be re-applied to determination of boundaries for the consolidated 

municipality, although work like the Council Size online survey would have to be repeated. The survey 

was promoted on the local radio stations XFM and the Hawk; growth and its distribution in the county is a 

critical consideration in the boundary review process; and we expect the boundary review project to be 

completed early in 2024. 

2.3.2 ONLINE COUNCIL SIZE SURVEY 

Stantec also posted a Council Size Survey to obtain public opinions on the size of County Council. The 

survey was conducted from September 18 to through October 11, 2023. In addition, the County also 

made 100 hardcopy surveys available to interested members of the public. Notification of the survey was 

prominently provided on the home page of the County’s website, which allowed visitors to the site to link 

easily to the survey. Municipal staff also arranged public service announcements on local radio stations to 

promote the survey along with the Council Size Public Meeting. We have used Facebook advertising very 

 
 

Agenda Page 23 of 70



Antigonish County Electoral Boundary Review 
2 Current Governance 

 

9 
 

effectively in the past to promote similar surveys, but we were not able of find a means to work around 

Facebook’s current restrictions on advertising related to elections.  

During the period the survey was open, exactly 200 people responded, 29 (14.5%) providing their 

response on a hardcopy questionnaire. Although we would have appreciated more responses, the 

number is a reasonable guide public views concerning council size in Antigonish County. Relative to other 

municipalities where we have recently had to promote similar questionnaire surveys for electoral 

boundary reviews with access to Facebook advertising, the response was similar, probably because of 

the radio ads arranged by County staff. 

Appendix A to this report provides all survey questions with tables and charts summarizing the 

responses to each. Respondents, as we typically find with council size surveys we conduct, are generally 

engaged with municipal politics. Most participate in municipal elections with more than half stating they 

voted in the last three in Antigonish (52.5%) and another 25.5% voting in at least the most recent election 

in 2020. In all, 81.8% said they voted in at least one of the past three Antigonish elections.  

Responses came from residents of all ten current electoral districts. although respondents from Districts 

2, 8, and 9 were best represented with 13.8%, 12.8%, and 15.4% of respondents (Figure 2-3). Districts 3, 

5, and 6, on the other hand, were under-represented with 5.6%, 5.1%, and 5.1% of respondents, 

respectively. Respondents were predominantly middle aged and seniors with nearly one-third (30.9%) 

between 65 and 74 years and a quarter (24.7%) between 55 and 64 years, and 85.9% accounted for 

between 35 and 74. Female respondents (55.0% v. 45.0% male). Women accounted for 59.7% of 

respondents who identified their gender with males constituting 36.5% and 9.5% preferring not to share 

their gender identity. 

Figure 2-3 Council Size Survey Respondents by District, Antigonish County, 2023 

 
Source Stantec Consulting Limited 

9
.2

%
, 
1

8 1
3

.8
%

, 
2

7

5
.6

%
, 
1

1

1
1

.8
%

, 
2

3

5
.1

%
, 
1

0

5
.1

%
, 
1

0

1
1

.3
%

, 
2

2

1
2

.8
%

, 
2

5

1
5

.4
%

, 
3

0

9
.7

%
, 
1

9

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

50

 
 

Agenda Page 24 of 70



Antigonish County Electoral Boundary Review 
2 Current Governance 

 

10 
 

Respondents generally rated Council moderately on a scale from 1 to 5 on which 1 denoted poor 

performance during Council’s current term and 5 represented excellent performance. The most frequent 

response was 3 (26.3%), which suggests neither good nor bad performance, but it was followed closely 

by 1 representing poor performance (23.2%) (Figure 2-4). The overall average score was 2.9 suggesting 

a middling rating slightly skewed to poor, which is similar to most municipalities we have surveyed for 

governance and boundary review studies.  

Of 143 respondents who offered an opinion in response to Question 6, 82.2% considered council size 

relevant to Council or municipal operations. The key survey question was following Question 7, which 

asked directly how many representatives the respondent would like to have on Antigonish County 

Council. Responses strongly favoured the current Council of ten (59.5% of 190 respondents to the 

question). No other option was chosen by more than 7%. The next two choices were an enlarged Council 

of12 and a moderately reduced Council of eight, both of which were supported by 6.8% of respondents to 

the question. The minimum option of three ranked fourth with the support of 5.9% (Figure 2-5). The 

average response was 9.1 Council members. 

It is worth noting that the result represents the strongest support for the status quo in response to any of 

the multiple surveys we have conducted for governance and boundary reviews. It is, in fact, the largest 

support for a specific council size that we have seen, indicating that regardless of views concerning 

Council or municipal performance, the public endorses the size of the current Council that serves them. 

  

Figure 2-4 Ratings of Council Performance, Antigonish County, 2023 

 
Source Stantec Consulting Limited 

23.2%, 46

14.1%, 28

26.3%, 52

21.7%, 43

14.6%, 29

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

1 2 3 4 5

 
 

Agenda Page 25 of 70



Antigonish County Electoral Boundary Review 
2 Current Governance 

 

11 
 

In response to Questions 8, 9, and 10 respectively asking why each respondent supported decreasing, 

maintaining, or enlarging Council, the small number of respondents preferring a Council with fewer than 

ten cited the size of the municipality and comparison to other municipalities. Some noted that Council 

members in favour of consolidation have argued that a benefit will be to reduce the number of municipal 

politicians. Those in favour of keeping Council at ten, expressed satisfaction with the current Council and 

the importance of representing residents and diverse opinions. Those favouring an increase from ten, 

suggested expressed very similar opinions to those preferring the status quo, noting the benefits of more 

representatives to serve the public and represent varied interests. 

The final two opinion questions in the survey asked if respondents had any concerns with the boundaries 

of their district (Question 11) or with other districts (Question 12). Only 32 respondents (20.8%) expressed 

concerns with the boundaries of their districts  (Figure 2-6a) and, as we have typically found when asking 

about boundary issues in similar surveys for other municipalities, answers lacked specifics. Several 

respondents, for example, stated that their district is "too big," but none suggested how size could be 

reduced. Two residents, however, expressed a clear concern with the portion of District 1 that juts 

between Districts 2 and 4 and includes areas of Pleasant Valley, North Grant, and Clydesdale. They 

noted that the area has much more in common with the adjacent community of Brierly Brook than most 

District 1 residents located on the shore from McArras Brook to Cape George. Five residents of what 

some called the "fringe area" around the Town of Antigonish expressed similar but less specific 

complaints that their communities were included in districts with rural areas where servicing and other 

priorities are very different.  

  

Figure 2-5 Council Size Preferences, Antigonish County, 2023 

 
Source Stantec Consulting Limited 

5
.8

%
, 
1

1

1
.6

%
, 
3

3
.2

%
, 
6

2
.1

%
, 
4

6
.3

%
, 
1

2

6
.8

%
, 
1

3

4
.2

%
, 
8

5
9

.5
%

, 
1

1
3

2
.1

%
, 
4

6
.8

%
, 
1

3

1
.1

%
, 
2

0
.5

%
, 
1

0
.0

%
, 
0

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

 
 

Agenda Page 26 of 70



Antigonish County Electoral Boundary Review 
2 Current Governance 

 

12 
 

Comments from 27 respondents (19.3%) concerning issues with the boundaries of districts in which 

respondents do not reside were even less specific (Figure 2-6b). One resident of District 4 suggested 

shifting area from District 1 to District 2 and four noted that the fringe area was problematic without 

making any suggestions concerning how the issue might be addressed. 

2.3.3 COUNCIL SIZE CONSIDERATIONS 

While the goal of the first phase of a governance and boundary review is to determine the most suitable 

size of the council to serve the municipality in question, there is no clear consensus as to the optimum 

size. The appropriate size of a council depends on several issues that at times compete. Certainly, a 

smaller council will eliminate the costs in salaries, expenses, and overheads that would otherwise be 

incurred by eliminated council members. On the other hand, the compensation to Nova Scotia municipal 

representatives, as discussed in Section 2.1.1, above, is moderate and the CBC’s 2018 study found 

Antigonish County was very close to the average for the province’s rural municipalities. Some argue, in 

any case, that if the number of Council members is decreased, the increased job demands for remaining 

members will justify higher salaries. Examination of the CBC’s data suggests that while there is some 

justification for this belief, compensation is also influenced by the size of the municipality and smaller 

councils tend to be found in municipalities with smaller populations. 

  

Figure 2-6 Respondents Citing Boundary Concerns, Antigonish County, 2023 

a. District of Residence b. Other Districts 

  
Source Stantec Consulting Limited 

75.8%, 
116

19.6%, 
30

2.6%, 4 2.0%, 3

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

No Yes Other Don't know

70.7%, 
99

19.3%, 
27

5.7%, 8 4.3%, 6

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

No Yes Other Don't know

 
 

Agenda Page 27 of 70



Antigonish County Electoral Boundary Review 
2 Current Governance 

 

13 
 

The impact on the workload of council members is nevertheless relevant. More councillors mean more 

resources available to respond to resident concerns. Many residents feel councillors are more responsive 

if they must deal with fewer constituents, although some analysts will point out that councillors simply 

adjust their approach if their responsibilities increase. Council members in larger jurisdictions like HRM, 

CBRM, and Kings County deal with many more constituents than their counterparts in equivalent 

municipal classifications and appear to do so reasonably well, although detailed examination would be 

necessary to evaluate the situation fully. Some observers suggest that dealing with more constituents 

keeps councillors from micromanaging municipal affairs, although citizens who want their specific 

concerns addressed may differ. 

Councils are decision-making bodies and studies have assessed the influence of group-size on decision-

making. A review of readily available sources suggests that it is desirable to have fewer than 12 people in 

a decision-making group with most observers favouring numbers between three and eight, based on the 

“table rule,” which suggests that with numbers greater than eight it is difficult to maintain a single 

conversation within a group. We have found additional sources that state groups of five to seven are the 

most effective.3 In addition to being manageable numbers, five and seven are odd numbers, which avoids 

ties, although we have noted that several rural councils in Nova Scotia including Antigonish County have 

even numbers of members and we are not aware of any situation where it has deadlocked council.  

It is also noteworthy that municipal councils do not conduct debate and discussion in the same manner as 

an independent discussion group. The mayor or warden acts as chair and enforces strict rules of order. A 

concern in less structured decision-making bodies is that dominant voices tend to “steam-roll” more 

reserved participants. While the phenomenon is not unknown in municipal councils, the process of giving 

members opportunities to speak individually and limiting the number of times a specific issue can be 

addressed mitigates this influence. We would hypothesize that such procedures allow a larger group to 

be managed, although it does not invalidate the benefits of having a membership in the five to seven 

range. 

Proponents favouring more rather than fewer members usually contend more members allow for the 

expression of diverse perspectives, which is important to ensuring full debate. It is also argued that as 

decision-making bodies like councils grow, they usually self-organize into groups like political parties that 

express shared views on most topics. In a relatively small municipality like Antigonish, though, others 

might counter that five or seven individuals can adequately represent differing perspectives and many 

would consider that a much larger council in which groups might form around specific issues would be 

unwieldy and costly for a relatively small number of taxpayers. 

 
 
3  Sheila Margolis, “What Is the Optimal Group Size for Decision-making?,” Workplace Culture Institute, LLC, 

https://sheilamargolis.com/2011/01/what-is-the-optimal-group-size-for-decision-making/. Although the 
summary is a brief popular summary of the issue, the author does cite a Harvard Business Review article, 

which she says advocates seven as “the optimal size.” She then advances her own rationale for favouring 
five. Another online source that touts “5-7” is Ebrary, “Group Size and Decision Making,” 
https://ebrary.net/2836/management/group_sie_decision_making. 

 
 

Agenda Page 28 of 70

https://sheilamargolis.com/2011/01/what-is-the-optimal-group-size-for-decision-making/


Antigonish County Electoral Boundary Review 
2 Current Governance 

 

14 
 

One area, however, where we regularly hear concerns from council members in municipalities across the 

province is the distribution of council members to boards, committees, and community events. Antigonish 

County Council members, however, hardly mentioned this factor in our interview process. With only the 

Town of Antigonish within the County, it may be that Antigonish County Council members do not have to 

deal with as many boards and collaborative arrangements as Council members in counties divided into 

districts and/or with several towns within their boundaries. It is also likely that the relatively large number 

of Council members in Antigonish reduces the burden of committee participation relative to other 

municipal units where fewer council members must cover more inter-municipal arrangements – and have 

frequently complained to Stantec through interviews for governance and boundary studies about the time 

requirements. While some critics may see this as proof that the workload for Antigonish Council members 

is moderate, we consider it positive that most County Council members appear to find demands on their 

time reasonable and did not express the common concern of many Nova Scotia municipal council 

members that they are overworked.  

Ultimately, the primary issue in determining the appropriate council size for each municipality is public 

opinion. Determining the appropriate council size involves trading off service to constituents with 

efficiency and cost effectiveness. The trade-off itself is however subject to judgement by the public of 

what service they expect and how they expect it to be provided. While some constituents may, for 

example, prioritize attention to their personal concerns or the needs of their neighbourhood, others may 

prefer to see council emphasize high-level issues and broader municipal priorities. Each person, 

furthermore, likely has a unique take on how the size of council will influence the priorities of council 

members. 

2.3.4 OTHER CONSIDERATIONS 

We take several additional considerations into account in drawing boundaries that are not explicitly 

identified in the MGA. To begin, it is desirable to have readily identifiable boundaries and avoid significant 

geographic barriers within districts. Distinct boundaries can be difficult to find. Roads, particularly limited 

access highways like the TransCanada/Highway 104 through Antigonish, often make excellent 

boundaries because they tend to be well known and very visible. On the other hand, lower order roads, 

particularly in undeveloped areas are useful, as are rivers, lakes, and inlets, which often separate 

communities, especially where there are no crossing links (e.g., bridges across water features, which are 

equivalent to interchanges on highways). Where dividing physical features are lacking, it is usually 

effective to draw boundaries in areas where population is sparse, and separation of communities can be 

avoided. In such situations, boundaries defined by topographic features such as ridges or, in the absence 

of such landmarks, by straight lines, serve well. 

Electoral districts are also generally contiguous; that is, their territory is continuous and uninterrupted. 

District 2 in the Municipal District of Guysborough is the only exception we are familiar with in Nova 

Scotia. Its configuration is justified by the objective of ensuring representation for the separated African-

Nova Scotian communities in Lincolnville, Sunnyville, and Upper Big Tracadie. We are not aware of 

 
 

Agenda Page 29 of 70



Antigonish County Electoral Boundary Review 
2 Current Governance 

 

15 
 

another similar example among rural or regional municipalities in the province and consider contiguity to 

be an absolute objective for typical electoral districts. 

Finally, although it is also not directly expressed in the legislation, we consider it beneficial for electoral 

districts to be internally connected. Roadways and equivalent transportation connections that join 

communities directly within a district (i.e., without departing to another district) are desirable because they 

promote communities of interest and facilitate the work of councillors who must travel among constituents 

in their district. They are also likely to be more convenient for electors when they travel to the polling 

station within their district on election days.  

 

 
 

Agenda Page 30 of 70



Antigonish County Electoral Boundary Review 
3 Past Boundary Reviews 

 

16 
 

3 PAST BOUNDARY REVIEWS  

The County of Antigonish has a ten-member Council. Councillors are elected from ten districts shown on 

the map to the right. As in most rural municipalities in Nova Scotia, Council is chaired by a Warden who is 

chosen by the Councillors from among themselves. In three Council and boundary reviews completed 

since the adoption of the current legislation in 1999, Antigonish County has maintained ten members on 

Council.  

The boundaries of the polling or electoral districts from which Councillors are elected have, however, 

been gradually adjusted to recognize shifts in population within the County. The primary criterion guiding 

boundary changes is the parity standard set by the NSUARB, which currently specifies that the number of 

electors in all districts should be within ±10% of the average number of electors in all districts in the 

municipality.  

The three boundary review processes conducted in Antigonish County since 1999, have not been entirely 

smooth. In 2000, the Councillor representing District 1 objected to an adjustment to the boundary of her 

district approved by Council and submitted to the NSUARB for approval. The Board accepted her position 

and the boundary of her district was maintained and the Board made alternative boundary adjustments. In 

2007, the County applied for approval of its Council size and confirmation of the electoral district 

boundaries approved in 2000. While the Board accepted the size of Council, it returned the application 

because the proposed boundaries did not meet the ±10% voter parity criterion. The County’s most recent 

application in 2015, however, was approved as submitted by the Board. 

3.1 1999 Boundary Review 

In 1999, the County engaged Dawn Sutherland to study its Council and electoral district boundaries. Ms. 

Sutherland determined the 10-member Council was appropriate based on a review of Antigonish County 

with “neighbouring” rural municipalities of Guysborough, Inverness, Richmond, Saint Mary's, and Pictou, 

which found that Antigonish that the number of constituents served by Antigonish Councillors at the time 

(1,470) was the closest of the six units to the overall average of 1,390 per council member. She also 

noted that Antigonish was the only municipality in the group that had seen its population grow in the 

preceding complete census period.4 

Ms. Sutherland then created five boundary scenarios labelled with colours to assess potential 

adjustments in consideration of the voter parity criterion, which then only specified that districts should be 

within ±25% of the average. The blue, red, green, yellow, and purple options did not assess boundaries 

within the municipality as a whole like our scenarios presented in following Chapter 4. They were, 

instead, proposals to correct variances in specific districts that exceeded the parity criterion. The Blue 

 
 
4  Dawn Sutherland, “Report to the Municipal Boundary Review Committee – Municipality of the County of 

Antigonish,” October 19, 1998, pp. 6-16 

 
 

Agenda Page 31 of 70



Antigonish County Electoral Boundary Review 
3 Past Boundary Reviews 

 

17 
 

Option, for example, adjusted the boundary between Districts 3 and 4, and the Red Option dealt with 

Districts and 8. The Yellow, Green, and Purple Options were developed to balance Districts 1, 2, and 3. 

The choice apparently came down to the yellow and purple choices and a dispute arose when Council 

selected the Yellow Option over a modified version of the Purple Option recommended by Ms. 

Sutherland. 

At the hearing, Councillor Mary 

MacLellen, the Councillor for District 

1, objected to the Yellow Option and 

advocated for Ms. Sutherland’s 

recommendation. After considering 

representations from the County’s 

solicitor, other County Councillors, 

and residents favouring the Yellow 

Option who generally argued that it 

better reflected communities of 

interest, the Board decided in favour 

of the modified Purple Option.  

An important consideration appeared 

to be evidence that while District 1 

barely satisfied the parity criterion at 

24.7% below the average of all 

districts (Table 3-1), it had increased 

its population more than District 2 

and appeared to have more potential for further growth. Interestingly, the voter numbers in Table 3-1 do 

not sum to 10,530. The correct total is 10,584, which averages 1,58. With 793 eligible voters, District 1 

was, in fact, very slightly outside the parity criterion at 25.04%. 

3.2 2006 Boundary Review 

By the time of the 2008 boundary review elector numbers had shifted sufficiently that three districts were 

outside the ±25% parity standard to which they all adhered when their boundaries were approved in 

2000. The NSUARB had, furthermore, decided in 2004 that the voter parity criterion would in future be 

±10% putting two more districts beyond the standard (Table 3-2). As with Table 3-1, we have noted an 

error in the total in Table 3-2. The correct total is 1,161 but the difference of two people is not enough to 

change the average per district.  

Interestingly, District 1 did not grow as the Board anticipated in its 2000 decision. In the context of an 

overall increase in the number of electors by more than 600, District 1 added only one voter and fell 

behind the average of all districts to 28.8% below average. District 7, which was also close to -25% in 

2000, also dropped to -28.8%. District 10, on the other hand, grew from 17.8% to 30.1% above average. 

Table 3-1 Voters by Polling District, Antigonish 
County, Modified Purple Option, 2000 

Polling District 

Eligible 
Voters, 

1997 

Variation from 
Average 

Number % 

1 Arisaig/Cape George 793 -260 -24.7% 

2 Cloverville/Lakeville 1,050 -119 -0.3% 

3 St. Joseph’s 924 -129 -12.3% 

4 Fringe West Area 1,180 87 12.1% 

5 Pomquet 1,047 -6 -0.6% 

6 St. Andrew’s 1,093 40 3.8% 

7 Heatherton 791 -262 -24.9% 

8 Tracadie/Monastery 1,134 81 7.7% 

9 Havre Boucher 1,332 279 26.5% 

10 Fringe South Area 1,240 187 17.8% 

TOTALS 10,530   

Average 1,053   

 

Source Nova Scotia Utility and Review Board 2000 (Totals and average from original) 

 
 

Agenda Page 32 of 70



Antigonish County Electoral Boundary Review 
3 Past Boundary Reviews 

 

18 
 

Districts 4 and 6 grew more modestly but moved more moderately outside the new ±10% criterion at 

13.5% and 10.9% above the average. When the County applied to maintain its Council size and 

boundaries in 2007, the Board rejected the application because too many districts were clearly outside  

the parity criterion and growth trends 

suggested the discrepancies would 

increase in future.5 

Although the Board returned the 

application to the Municipality “for 

reconsideration of the polling district 

boundaries,” we have not identified a 

subsequent study by the Municipality 

to create new boundaries nor have 

we found any mapping or other 

documentation of the boundaries 

employed for the 2008 or 2012 

municipal elections. A subsequent 

NSUARB decision dated August 18, 

2008, however, indicates County 

Council approved alterations to the 

boundaries of Districts 1, 3, 4, 7, and 

8 and the Board approved the 

changes. The decision does not indicate the number of eligible voters moved by the adjustments listed 

nor does it contain a table summarizing the variances of electors in the resulting districts from the 

average of all districts.6 Presumably, the changes reduced variances significantly to satisfy the 

requirements of the Board 

3.3 2014 Boundary Review 

While we have not been able to find any documentation concerning the electoral boundaries used by 

Antigonish County in 2008 or 2012, it appears changes were made. The 2015 Board decision concerning 

the County’s 2014 application includes a summary of variances based on the County’s 2012 enumeration 

that shows considerably reduced variances among the districts relative to the discrepancies that prevailed 

in 2007 (Table 3-2, above). Although six of the ten districts fell outside the ±10% parity criterion, all were 

 
 
5  NSUARB, “In the matter of the Municipal Government Act and in the matter of an application by the 

Municipality of The County of Antigonish to confirm the number of councillors and to retain the present 
boundaries of the polling districts,” September 25, 2007. 

6  NSUARB, “In the matter of the Municipal Government Act and in the matter of an application by the 
Municipality of The County of Antigonish to confirm the number of councillors and to retain the present 
boundaries of the polling districts,” August 18, 2008. 

Table 3-2 Voters by Polling District, Antigonish 
County, 2007 

Polling District 

Eligible 
Voters, 

2004 

Variation from 
Average 

Number % 

1 Arisaig/Cape George 794 -322 -28.8% 

2 Cloverville/Lakeville 1,205 89 8.0% 

3 St. Joseph’s 1,065 -51 -4.5% 

4 Fringe West Area 1,270 154 13.5% 

5 Pomquet 1,007 -109 -9.8% 

6 St. Andrew’s 1,238 122 10.9% 

7 Heatherton 794 -322 -28.8% 

8 Tracadie/Monastery 1,137 21 1.8% 

9 Havre Boucher 1,198 82 7.3% 

10 Fringe South Area 1,453 319 30.1% 

TOTALS 11,163   

Average 1,116   

 

Source Nova Scotia Utility and Review Board 2007 (Totals and average from original) 

 
 

Agenda Page 33 of 70



Antigonish County Electoral Boundary Review 
3 Past Boundary Reviews 

 

19 
 

within ±10% and ±20% of the average of all districts (Table 3-3). None approached the more than 25% 

discrepancies documented for Districts 1, 7, and 10 in 2007. 

The County applied to maintain its Council size and adopt new boundaries that satisfied the ±10% 

criterion for all districts. The Board once again accepted the Council size proposed based on a similar 

comparison to neighbouring municipalities as the County presented in the preceding two applications. It 

also approved the proposed boundary arrangement based on the counts of electors and related 

variances shown in the last three columns of Table 3-3. 

Table 3-3 Voters by Polling District, Antigonish County, 2012 

District 

Eligible  

Voters 
2012 

Variance Voters With 
Proposed 

Adjustments 

Variance 

Number % Number % 

1 Arisaig/Cape George 928 -187 -16.0% 997 -118 -9.8% 

2 Cloverville/Lakeville 1,258 143 13.9% 1,189 74 7.6% 

3 St. Joseph’s 1,146 31 3.6% 1,146 31 3.6% 

4 Fringe West Area 1,089 -26 -1.5% 1,207 92 9.2% 

5 Pomquet 1,207 92 9.2% 1,207 92 9.2% 

6 St. Andrew’s 1,269 154 14.8% 1,164 49 5.3% 

7 Heatherton 920 -195 -16.7% 1,038 -77 -6.1% 

8 Tracadie/Monastery 939 -176 -15.0% 1,006 -109 -9.0% 

9 Havre Boucher 1,090 -25 -1.4% 1,010 -105 -8.6% 

10 Fringe South Area 1,308 193 18.4% 1,190 75 7.7% 

TOTALS 11,154   11,154   

Average 1,115   1,115   
 

Source Nova Scotia Utility and Review Board 2015 

3.4 Summary 

Although Antigonish County has maintained its Council of ten members without much debate, the 

determination of district boundaries has been controversial. In 2000, Councillor disputed the boundaries 

among themselves. In 2007, the NSUARB rejected the County’s application because it did not satisfy the 

parity criterion, which had been significantly tightened between the 2000 and 2007 reviews.  

The 2007 outcome reinforced the priority the Board places on voter parity. In 2014, the County gave the 

issue appropriate attention and ensured all districts satisfied the ±10% standard resulting in acceptance of 

its application without significant debate. The boundaries adopted at that time have since been employed 

for the 2016 and 2020 municipal elections. 

 

 
 

Agenda Page 34 of 70



Antigonish County Electoral Boundary Review 
4 Boundary Delineation 

 

20 
 

4 BOUNDARY DELINEATION 

Section 10 of the Nova Scotia Municipal Government Act (MGA) establishes the key governance 

parameters for municipalities in the province. The section requires that a municipal council have at least 

three members and that only “[o]ne councillor shall be elected for each polling district in a county [like the 

Municipality of the County of Antigonish] or district municipality and in a regional municipality.” In other 

words, councillors in Antigonish County must be elected from defined geographic districts. Two 

councillors cannot be elected to represent a single district, nor can councillors be elected at large, both of 

which are permitted for Nova Scotia towns under the same section of the Act. 

4.1 Boundary Criteria 

Section 368 (4) of the MGA sets criteria that the NSUARB must consider in establishing the boundaries of 

polling or electoral districts within municipalities: 

In determining the number and boundaries of polling districts the Board shall consider number of 
electors, relative parity of voting power, population density, community of interest and geographic size. 

Following is a summary of Stantec’s interpretation of each criterion and the relative importance we have 

observed that the NSUARB places on each. Our interpretation is based on our review of past Board 

decisions and our direct experiences before the Board. 

4.1.1 NUMBER OF ELECTORS 

The number of electors or eligible voters in individual districts is intertwined with following criteria, 

particularly voter parity. Certainly, the number of constituents needs to be sufficient to justify the creation 

of a district and should not be so large that it would be beyond the capacity of a councillor to deal with 

constituent concerns. The latter issue is however highly debatable given the wide disparity in the number 

of constituents served by councillors in Nova Scotia. Councillors in Kings County, for example, currently 

serve an average of 4,951 constituents and Halifax Regional Municipality councillors serve 28,746. Four 

Kings Councillors or a single HRM Councillor, in other words, serve more population than currently 

resides in Antigonish County 

4.1.2 RELATIVE PARITY OF VOTING POWER 

Past NSUARB decisions have typically emphasized “voter parity,” which is easily quantified and 

assessed. The standard is applied to reflect the basic democratic principle that representation should be 

in proportion to population, commonly referred to as “rep by pop.” The Board currently requires the 

number of voters in each polling district to be within ±10% of the average for all polling districts.  

  

 
 

Agenda Page 35 of 70



Antigonish County Electoral Boundary Review 
4 Boundary Delineation 

 

21 
 

Since the early 1990s, the Board has gradually tightened this standard to the present level. At one time, it 

was only necessary for districts to be within ±33% of the average and, until 2004, ±25% was considered 

sufficient as discussed in our summary of past decisions concerning Antigonish County in previous 

Chapter 4. The ±10% criterion has been applied in boundary reviews since the 2006 round. Nearly all 

boundary applications to the NSUARB that we have reviewed contain a table documenting the number of 

electors in each district within the municipality in question with the variance of each from the average. The 

Board is usually sympathetic to small variations above or below its criterion but requires a written 

justification to consider any significant discrepancy, with a larger proposed variance being viewed as a 

greater burden on the municipal unit to justify. As our discussion of the Board’s decisions concerning 

applications in 2007 and 2008 in Section 3.2, above, demonstrates, the Board will reject applications that 

do not satisfactorily address its parity standard. 

4.1.3 POPULATION DENSITY 

The NSUARB is also mindful of population density and geographic area of each polling district. In 

sparsely populated areas, the Board recognizes that it may be difficult to achieve relative voter parity (i.e., 

to keep the number of electors in each district within ±10% of the average of districts) without creating an 

extensive area in which disparate interests may be combined and which may be unreasonable for a 

councillor to serve. In many rural municipalities, for example, it is necessary to have at least one larger 

district to encompass lightly populated areas and the Board has tended to accept lower populations in 

such districts recognizing that meeting the parity standard would require coverage of an excessive land 

area as discussed further under Subsection 4.1.5, below. 

4.1.4 COMMUNITY OF INTEREST 

The second most cited reason after geographic size, in our experience, for allowing districts to vary 

beyond the Board standard is community of interest, as it is usually desirable to represent communities of 

interest within a single district. Communities of interest may be racial, ethnic, linguistic, religious, 

economic, or geographic groups. We use communities defined for the Nova Scotia Civic Address File 

(NSCAF) as the basic building blocks for the creation of municipal electoral districts. We feel the NSCAF 

communities are well-recognized by the public as identifiers of community geographies and build our 

initial boundary proposals from undivided NSCAF communities to respect geographically defined 

interests. 

Districts do not, however, normally represent a specific community of interest. They usually contain 

several. It is nevertheless considered desirable to keep identifiable, geographically defined interests 

together in a single district and not divide them among two or more districts where their influence may be 

diluted or distorted. Larger communities that have significantly more electors than the average district 

may have to be divided to maintain voter parity. Smaller communities may also have to be divided to 

achieve parity or address other criteria, but it is a necessary trade-off rather than a desirable outcome.  

 
 

Agenda Page 36 of 70



Antigonish County Electoral Boundary Review 
4 Boundary Delineation 

 

22 
 

4.1.5 GEOGRAPHIC SIZE 

The main issue in considering the geographic size or land area of a district is ensuring a cohesive territory 

and a manageable area for the serving councillor. As noted, in relation to population density, above, the 

NSUARB has been willing to approve electoral districts that fall short of the -10% voter parity standard 

where sparse populations require the excessive area to capture the necessary number of electors. The 

situation is common in many rural municipalities where population is concentrated on a coastline or along 

a highway corridor and only small numbers are found in residual inland or interior areas.  

No area existing electoral district in Antigonish County, however, is particularly extensive relative to other 

districts in the County. District 1 is presently the largest district with as are of 314 km2 or 7.6% larger than 

the next largest district, District 3, which has 290 km2. District 6 is also close with 263 km2 or 16.2% 

smaller than District 1. Elsewhere in the province we have observed many districts with land areas that 

exceed 500 km2. In Inverness County, for example, the average district is more than twice the size of 

Antigonish County’s District 1 and Victoria County, the District of Digby, and Cumberland County all have 

average districts sizes that are greater than the 314 km2 area of District 1 (see Figure 2-1a, above). 

4.2 Preliminary Boundary Scenarios 

For discussion with Council, we have developed scenarios for eight, nine, and ten districts, which are two 

of the three council sizes that received the most support in responses to Question 7 of the Council Size 

Survey. Councillor interviews also appeared to support continuing with ten districts or reducing Council to 

eight districts.  

Stantec used ArcGIS Pro’s Build Balanced Zones tool to create the potential boundary configurations. 

The districts are comprised of communities defined by the Province for the Nova Scotia Civic Address File 

(NSCAF) without dividing any of those communities and have been designed to satisfy NSUARB criteria, 

particularly the requirement that the number of electors in each district should be within ±10% of the 

average of all districts.  

We have provided geographic names for each proposed district. The names are either names historically 

and currently used to label electoral districts in Antigonish County as shown in Figure 4-1 depicting and 

listing the County’s current ten districts or, in the preliminary scenarios presented below, adaptations of 

those identifiers where proposed changes make alternative labels more appropriate. They are provided to 

help readers locate each district and would not have an official importance. Refinement of the boundaries 

to account for geographic features will be undertaken in Phase 2 of the Review process as necessary. 

Figure 4-1 illustrates the current district arrangement. The average area of each district is 156 square 

kilometres and the average number of electors is 1,278 per district. Current Districts 1, 2, 4, 8 and 9 are 

outside the ±10% parity criterion. Districts 2 and 4, which both abut the northern limits of the Town of 

Antigonish, have the largest variances from the average at 33.0% and 23.4% above the average, 

respectively.

 
 

Agenda Page 37 of 70



Antigonish County Electoral Boundary Review 
4 Boundary Delineation 

 

23 
 

F
ig

u
re

 4
-1

 C
u

rr
e
n

t 
E

le
c
to

ra
l 
D

is
tr

ic
ts

 a
n

d
 N

S
C

A
F

 C
o

m
m

u
n

it
ie

s
, 
A

n
ti

g
o

n
is

h
 C

o
u

n
ty

, 
2
0
2
3
 

 So
ur

ce
 

St
an

tec
 C

on
su

ltin
g 

 
 

Agenda Page 38 of 70



Antigonish County Electoral Boundary Review 
4 Boundary Delineation 

 

24 
 

4.2.1 TEN-DISTRICT SCENARIOS 

Continuation with ten council members was strongly favoured by survey respondents. With ten council 

members, the average district will cover 156 km2 and have an average of 1,278 electors per district. 

Given the clear majority support for a 10-member Council, we have developed three scenarios for ten 

districts that Council may wish to consider. The first option, portrayed in Figure 4-2, was generated by the 

Build Balanced Zones tool using NSCAF communities with the objective of minimizing variance among 

the districts. The largest district by area is District 10, which is 379 km2. All districts satisfy the ±10% 

parity criterion. District 10 has the largest variance at 7.7% below the average of all districts. All remaining 

districts are within ±5%. 

Stantec GIS staff created two further variations with ten electoral districts. The first alternative addressed 

the issue raised by some Councillors of keeping Acadian communities together. Discussions with 

municipal staff led us to understand that Pomquet is the primary Acadian centre in the county, so we 

sought to create a district in which Pomquet was combined with Tracadie and, if possible, Havre Boucher. 

We quickly determined that it was not feasible to put all three communities together. While their combined 

population of 1,356 would be suitable for a district, it is impossible to create a contiguous Acadian area 

without including intervening non-Acadian communities such as Bayfield (182 electors) Cape Jack (125 

electors), which would push the population of the district well past 10% more than the 1,278 average 

number of electors per district.  

We consequently focused on combining only Pomquet and Tracadie and created the scenario portrayed 

in Figure 4-3. The approach puts Pomquet and Tracadie together in proposed District 7 on the north side 

of Highway 104. Havre Boucher is the dominant community in proposed District 8, which incorporates 

most of the communities in current District 9. The arrangement works very well in terms of parity with no 

district more than 4.0% from the average number of electors for all districts. 

The third scenario considered, as shown in Figure 4-4, involved setting the goal of meeting the parity 

standard while shifting as few communities as possible from the County’s current electoral boundary 

arrangement. The arrangement maintains the east-west division between Districts 1 and 2 on Cape 

George but could not avoid the creation of an essentially new and separate District 10 featuring 

Antigonish Landing and Williams Point immediately to the north and east of the Town of Antigonish or a 

similarly new District 5 containing South River Road, Beech Hill, and Lower South River to the south and 

east. Current District 7 is also substantially different with communities currently in District 5 combined with 

communities from the northern half of current District 7 including Summerside, the Paqtnkek-Niktuek 23 

Reserve, and Heatherton. Bayfield from current District 7 is added to District 8 and communities farther 

south in District 7 are proposed to augment proposed District 10. Remaining districts, nevertheless, have 

recognizable equivalents with proposed District 3 strongly resembling existing District 3, proposed District 

6 similar to current District 6, and Districts 8 and 9 only moderately changed. 

 
 

Agenda Page 39 of 70



Antigonish County Electoral Boundary Review 
4 Boundary Delineation 

 

25 
 

F
ig

u
re

 4
-2

 P
ro

p
o

s
e
d

 T
e
n

 E
le

c
to

ra
l 

D
is

tr
ic

ts
, 

A
n

ti
g

o
n

is
h

 C
o

u
n

ty
, 

2
0
2
3
 

 So
ur

ce
 

St
an

tec
 C

on
su

ltin
g 

 
 

Agenda Page 40 of 70



Antigonish County Electoral Boundary Review 
4 Boundary Delineation 

 

26 
 

F
ig

u
re

 4
-3

 P
ro

p
o

s
e
d

 T
e
n

 E
le

c
to

ra
l 

D
is

tr
ic

ts
, 

A
d

ju
s
te

d
 f

o
r 

A
c
a
d

ia
n

 C
o

m
m

u
n

it
ie

s
, 
A

n
ti

g
o

n
is

h
 C

o
u

n
ty

, 
2
0
2
3
 

 So
ur

ce
 

St
an

tec
 C

on
su

ltin
g 

 
 

Agenda Page 41 of 70



Antigonish County Electoral Boundary Review 
4 Boundary Delineation 

 

27 
 

F
ig

u
re

 4
-4

 P
ro

p
o

s
e
d

 T
e
n

 E
le

c
to

ra
l 

D
is

tr
ic

ts
, 
M

in
im

u
m

 A
d

ju
s
tm

e
n

t,
 A

n
ti

g
o

n
is

h
 C

o
u

n
ty

, 
2
0
2
3
 

 So
ur

ce
 

St
an

tec
 C

on
su

ltin
g 

 
 

Agenda Page 42 of 70



Antigonish County Electoral Boundary Review 
4 Boundary Delineation 

 

28 
 

All districts in the proposed arrangement meet the ±10% parity criterion, although the total absolute value 

of all variances increases from 26.0 percentage points to 36.7 percentage points.  

4.2.2 EIGHT-DISTRICT SCENARIO 

Many Council members suggested that reducing Council to eight might be considered, recognizing that 

eight is roughly the average for rural municipal councils in the province. The number was also tied with 

twelve as the second preferred Council size among respondents to our online survey. 

With eight districts, the average district size will increase to 195 km2. Proposed District 1 is the largest 

area among the eight districts we have defined (Figure 4-5). At 439 km2, the District is two and a quarter 

times the size of the average district and more than 70% larger than proposed District 3, the second 

largest district created in the eight-district scenario.  

Like all three ten-district options, the eight-district arrangement fits comfortably within ±10% of the 

average number of electors per district (1,597). The largest variation from the average is for proposed 

District 7, which is -9.1% from the average. Remaining districts range from -6.0% to 6.3%. 

Proposed Districts 1, 2, and 3 to the west of Antigonish are similar to current Districts 1, 2, and 3. Districts 

7 and 8 are largely formed from current Districts 7, 8, and 9, with proposed District 8 taking communities 

from the eastern portion of existing District 8 and proposed District 7 combining the balance of current 

District 8 with current District 7. Substantial changes are necessary for Districts 4, 5, and 6 in the central 

part of the County. District 4 combines areas from the east of current District 3 and the west of current 

District 6; District 5 is comprised of Lower South River at the northern end of current District 6 with Beech 

Hill and Williams Point in existing District 10; and proposed District 6 combines the central area of current 

District 6 with all communities comprising current District 5. 

4.2.3 NINE-DISTRICT SCENARIO 

The nine-district arrangement was developed at the request of municipal staff to assess a more modest 

reduction in Council size than eight. Nine districts received the sixth highest level of support from 

respondents to the Council Size Survey with 4.2% of respondents favouring it. The configuration 

generated for nine districts (Figure 4-6) varies considerably from the ten and eight district arrangements 

shown in Figures 4-2, 4-4, and 4-5, above. Its proposed District 4 is similar to the proposed Acadian 

district encompassing Pomquet and Tracadie in the Acadian arrangement (Figure 4-3, above), although it 

excludes East Tracadie. In general, the districts east of Antigonish are similar to the Acadian 

arrangement, but, other than proposed District 1, there are also substantial differences to the west. 

The arrangement, again, satisfies the parity standard with the largest variation from the average number 

of electors being in District 7, which has 7.1% more electors than the average. Proposed Districts 1 and 6 

have the largest areas at 373 and 376 km2, respectively, both roughly 85% bigger than District 9, which is 

the third largest at 203 km2. 

 
 

Agenda Page 43 of 70



Antigonish County Electoral Boundary Review 
4 Boundary Delineation 

 

29 
 

F
ig

u
re

 4
-5

 P
ro

p
o

s
e
d

 E
ig

h
t 

E
le

c
to

ra
l 

D
is

tr
ic

ts
, 

A
n

ti
g

o
n

is
h

 C
o

u
n

ty
, 
2
0
2
3
 

 So
ur

ce
 

St
an

tec
 C

on
su

ltin
g 

 
 

Agenda Page 44 of 70



Antigonish County Electoral Boundary Review 
4 Boundary Delineation 

 

30 
 

F
ig

u
re

 4
-6

 P
ro

p
o

s
e
d

 N
in

e
 E

le
c
to

ra
l 

D
is

tr
ic

ts
, 

A
n

ti
g

o
n

is
h

 C
o

u
n

ty
, 
2
0
2
3
 

 So
ur

ce
 

St
an

tec
 C

on
su

ltin
g 

 
 

Agenda Page 45 of 70



Antigonish County Electoral Boundary Review 
4 Boundary Delineation 

 

31 
 

4.3 Summary and Recommendation 

For Phase 2 of the Electoral Boundary Review, we are required to take appropriate boundary options to 

the public for review and feedback. To focus public discussion, scenarios presented should be reduced to 

realistic and representative options. If a boundary feature in a potentially desirable option can be 

improved at this time, it would also be advisable to explore potential adjustments.  

4.3.1 SUMMARY 

The foregoing scenarios address potential boundary arrangements for two of the three council sizes that 

received the most support from respondents to the Council Size Survey as well as for a nine-district 

arrangement. As noted above, the ±10% parity standard was a leading consideration in creating the 

proposed arrangements. The standard is met by all districts in all the scenarios presented above.  

For convenience in our remaining discussion, we have designated the five scenarios as follows: 

• Scenario 1 – Initial Ten-District Option 

• Scenario 2 – Acadian Adjusted Ten-District Option 

• Scenario 3 – Minimum Adjusted Ten-District Option 

• Scenario 4 – Eight-District Option 

• Scenario 5 – Nine-district Option 

In considering these options, it is impossible to ignore the very strong endorsement of ten districts by 

respondents to our Council Size Survey. Among the three ten-district options, we favour Scenario 3, 

given it comfortably meets the parity criterion and there is definite merit in minimizing the movement of 

communities between districts. A secondary issue, depending on the views of Council members is the 

importance attached to consolidating the Acadian communities of Pomquet and Tracadie in the same 

district as we have done in Scenario 2. 

A more critical consideration, in our opinion, is whether to offer the public options for three different 

council sizes (i.e., Scenarios 4, 5, and 6 and one of Scenarios 1, 2, and 3) or a choice among options that 

vary boundaries for ten districts. Assessing the choice in consideration of input to date, we would note 

that only 13 survey respondents favoured eight Council members and another 13 favoured twelve, while 

just eight supported nine, in comparison to 113 who preferred ten.  

We believe at least two options should be presented to the public but no more than three. Our first choice 

would be Scenario 3 for ten districts, which will involve the least change to the current electoral boundary 

framework. Our second choice would be the eight-district arrangement in Scenario 4, which would align 

the County’s Council size with the average for Nova Scotia rural municipalities. Our third pick would be to 

Scenario 3 if Council feels there would be benefits in bringing the Acadian communities together in a 

 
 

Agenda Page 46 of 70



Antigonish County Electoral Boundary Review 
4 Boundary Delineation 

 

32 
 

single district. In our opinion, Scenario 1 provides no benefits relative to Scenario 3, other than a 

reduction in the variation of electors among districts that is not critical considering all five scenarios meet 

the NSUARB’s parity standard. The twelve-district arrangement has the same public support as Scenario 

4; however, it was not referenced by Council members during our interviews and would move the County 

away from the Provincial average for rural municipal councils.  

4.3.2 RECOMMENDATION 

While all the scenarios presented in the preceding section meet the parity standard, we believe the 

options should be narrowed to two or three for presentation to the public. Scenarios for ten Council 

members are strongly favoured by the public. Councillors interviewed raised no issues with the 

functioning of the current Council, although most acknowledged eight or nine members would be closer to 

the provincial average and expressed a willingness to consider a moderate reduction in council size on 

that basis.  

As we have stated, we consider Scenario 3 the most appropriate arrangement for ten districts and the 

eight-district arrangement in Scenario 4 the best alternative. Scenario 2 bringing Pomquet and Tracadie 

together in the same district offers an alternative for ten districts if Council believes it will bring benefits to 

the Acadian population. We would like to note, however, that a concern with presenting boundary options 

for the same council size is the potential to split support for that size and confuse decision-making. 

In the interest of focusing further discussion, we recommend, therefore, taking Scenario 3 for ten 

districts along with Scenario 4 for eight districts as depicted above, to the public for consideration 

in Phase 2 of this Electoral Boundary Review.  

4.3.3 NEXT STEPS 

In the second phase of the Electoral Boundaries Review, we will conduct a second online survey that will 

ask respondents for their preference between the scenarios approved by Council, and provide an 

opportunity for respondents to identify any concerns with the boundaries of the proposed districts. We will 

also hold three public meetings as described in Section 1.3, above, subject to discussions with municipal 

staff and Council. At the meetings, we will present information on the review process, including survey 

responses and solicit feedback from attendees.  

Following the second round of public consultation, Stantec will make any adjustments to the scenarios 

justified by input through the survey and/or the public meetings. We will then prepare a Council Size and 

Boundaries Report summarizing the Phase 2 consultation processes and recommending a preferred 

Council size with the related district boundaries arrangement. As with all recommendations to a municipal 

council, Antigonish County Council may accept or reject Stantec’s recommendation or modify the 

recommendation. Whatever course of action County Council selects, the Municipality is obliged to apply 

to the NSUARB by year’s end confirming or altering its Council size and boundary arrangements. The 

Board will then consider Antigonish’s application and either approve it, modify it, or reject it. 

 
 

Agenda Page 47 of 70



Antigonish County Electoral Boundary Review 

 

 
 

APPENDIX A COUNCIL SIZE SURVEY RESULTS 

 
 

Agenda Page 48 of 70



 
 

Agenda Page 49 of 70



Antigonish County Electoral Boundary Review 

 

 
 

1 How many of the last three Antigonish County 
elections have you voted in? 

Elections Number % 

2012 3 1.7% 

2016 4 1.7% 

2020 29 14.4% 

2016, 2012 1 0.6% 

2020, 2012 3 1.7% 

2020, 2016 18 9.4% 

2020, 2016, 2012 101 52.5% 

None 22 9.4% 

Unsure 17 8.8% 

TOTAL 198 100.0% 

No response 3   

 

2 In which District do you currently reside? (See 
context map for reference). 

District Number % 

District 1 18 9.2% 

District 2 27 13.8% 

District 3 11 5.6% 

District 4 23 11.8% 

District 5 10 5.1% 

District 6 10 5.1% 

District 7 22 11.3% 

District 8 25 12.8% 

District 9 30 15.4% 

District 10 19 9.7% 

TOTAL 195 100.0% 

No response 6  
 

 

3 How would you rate the performance of 
Antigonish’s County Council since the 2016 
election? (1 = poor 5 = excellent) 
 

Rating Number % 

1 46 23.2% 

2 28 14.1% 

3 52 26.3% 

4 43 21.7% 

5 29 14.6% 

TOTAL 198 100.0% 

No response 3  

Average 46 23.2% 
  

4 What do you consider to be the main weaknesses of 
Antigonish County’s current Council? 
 

 

5 What do you consider to be the main strengths of 
Antigonish County’s current Council? 

 

1.7%, 3

1.7%, 4

14.4%, 
29

0.6%, 1

1.7%, 3

9.4%, 18

52.5%, 
101

9.4%, 22

8.8%, 17

0 50 100

2012

2016

2020

2016, 2012

2020, 2012

2020, 2016

2020, 2016, 2012

None

Unsure

9
.2

%
, 
1

8

1
3

.8
%

, 
2

7

5
.6

%
, 
1

1 1
1

.8
%

, 
2

3

5
.1

%
, 
1

0

5
.1

%
, 
1

0 1
1

.3
%

, 
2

2

1
2

.8
%

, 
2

5

1
5

.4
%

, 
3

0

9
.7

%
, 
1

9

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

50

23.2%, 
46

14.1%, 
28

26.3%, 
52

21.7%, 
43

14.6%, 
29

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

1 2 3 4 5

 
 

Agenda Page 50 of 70



Antigonish County Electoral Boundary Review 

 

 
 

 

6 Do you think the number of elected representatives 
influences Council or municipal operations in any 
way? 
 

Response Number % 

Yes 107 81.1% 

No 25 18.9% 

Prefer not to answer 0 0.0% 

TOTAL 132 100.0% 

No response 51  
 

 

7 Please indicate the number of Council members you 
would prefer to have on Antigonish County Council 
(the minimum Council size is three members). 
 

Response Number % 

3 members 11 5.8% 

4 members 3 1.6% 

5 members 6 3.2% 

6 members 4 2.1% 

7 members 12 6.3% 

8 members 13 6.8% 

9 members 8 4.2% 

10 members 113 59.5% 

11 members 4 2.1% 

12 members 13 6.8% 

13 members 2 1.1% 

14 members 1 0.5% 

15 members+ 0 0.0% 

TOTAL 190 100.0% 

No response 11  

Average 9.1  
 

 

8 If your answer to Question 7 was from 3 to 9 
members, please explain why you think Council size 
should be decreased from its current 10 members? (if 
not applicable, please go to Question 11) 
 

 

9 If your answer to Question 6 was 10, please explain 
why you think Council size should stay at 10 
members?  (if not applicable, please go to Question 
11) 
 

 

10 10. If your answer to Question 9 was any choice from 
11 to 15 or more, please explain why you think Council 
size should be increased from its current 10 
members? (if not applicable, please go to Question 11) 
 

 

80.4%, 
115

19.6%, 
28

0.0%, 0
0

50

100

Yes No Prefer not to
answer

5.8%, 11

1.6%, 3

3.2%, 6

2.1%, 4

6.3%, 12

6.8%, 13

4.2%, 8

59.5%, 
113

2.1%, 4

6.8%, 13

1.1%, 2

0.5%, 1

0.0%, 0

0 50 100

3 members

4 members

5 members

6 members

7 members

8 members

9 members

10 members

11 members

12 members

13 members

14 members

15 members+

 
 

Agenda Page 51 of 70



Antigonish County Electoral Boundary Review 

 

 
 

11 Do you have any concerns with the boundaries 
of the electoral district in which you currently 
live? 

Response Number % 

No 116 75.8% 

Yes 30 19.6% 

Other 4 2.6% 

Don't know 3 2.0% 

TOTAL 153 100.0% 

No response 47 30.7% 
 

 

14 Do you have any concerns with the boundaries of 
any other districts in Antigonish? 

Response Number % 

No 99 70.7% 

Yes 27 19.3% 

Other 8 5.7% 

Don't know 6 4.3% 

TOTAL 140 100.0% 

No response 60   

 

15 Which category below includes your age? 
 

Cohort Number % 

18 to 24 years 0 0.0% 

25 to 34 years 11 5.6% 

35 to 44 years 27 13.8% 

45 to 54 years 36 18.4% 

55 to 64 years 46 23.5% 

65 to 74 years 59 30.1% 

75 to 84 years 11 5.6% 

85 years or more 0 0.0% 

Prefer not to answer 6 3.1% 

TOTAL 196 100.0% 

No response 4  

Average 57.8  
 

 

16 What is your gender? 
 

Gender Number % 

Male 73 36.5% 

Female 108 54.0% 

Prefer not to answer 19 9.5% 

TOTAL 200 100.0% 

No response 0  
 

 

75.8%, 
116

19.6%, 
30

2.6%, 4 2.0%, 3

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

No Yes Other Don't know

70.7%, 
99

19.3%, 
27

5.7%, 8 4.3%, 6

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

No Yes Other Don't know

5.6%, 11

13.8%, 
27

18.4%, 
36

23.5%, 
46

30.1%, 
59

5.6%, 11

0.0%, 0

3.1%, 6

0 20 40 60

25 to 34 years

35 to 44 years

45 to 54 years

55 to 64 years

65 to 74 years

75 to 84 years

85 years or more

Prefer not to answer

36.5%, 
73

54.0%, 
108

9.5%, 19

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

Male Female Prefer not to
answer

 
 

Agenda Page 52 of 70



 
 

Agenda Page 53 of 70



 
 

Agenda Page 54 of 70



Antigonish County Electoral Boundary Review 
 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

Agenda Page 55 of 70



 

2023 – 2024 Winter Parking Regulations  1 
 

STAFF REPORT 

TO: Committee of the Whole 

FROM: BETH SCHUMACHER, DEPUTY CLERK 

SUBJECT: 2023 – 2024 WINTER PARKING REGULATIONS 

DATE: 14/11/2023 

RECOMMENDATION 

Staff is recommending the following motion be considered by the Committee: 

The Committee recommends that Municipal Council approve the signing of the Order for 
Winter Parking Regulations for 2023-2024, setting out the period from December 1, 2023 
to April 15, 2024 as the time in which Winter Parking Regulations will be in effect on 
roads/streets under the jurisdiction of the County of Antigonish. 

BACKGROUND 

The winter parking ban regulations are passed by Council each fall and restrict parking 
on municipal roads between December 1st and April 15th to assist with snow removal.  
These restrictions are in place overnight between the hours of 12:01 am and 7am, during 
or immediately after a snowstorm, and prohibit vehicles being left where they would 
prevent the removal of snow from the roadway. 

Once the motion is passed by Council, the Winter Parking Ban Regulation will be signed 
by the local RCMP, who are the Municipal Traffic Authority for the municipality.  An 
advertisement notifying the public of the parking restriction will run in the local newspaper 
and will also be posted on the Municipality’s website. 

 
 

Agenda Page 56 of 70



 

Winter Parking Regulation Page 1 

 

 
 
 

In the Matter of subsection 202(1) of Chapter 293 of the revised Statute of  
Nova Scotia, 1989, the Motor Vehicle Act 

 
-and-  

 
In the Matter of an Order respecting Winter Parking of Vehicles 

 made by the Provincial Traffic Authority pursuant to  
subsection 202(1) of the Motor Vehicle Act 

 
 

Order 
 

I, Sgt. Warren MacBeath, Municipal Traffic Authority for the Municipality of the 

County of Antigonish, pursuant to subsection 202(1) of Chapter 293 of the Revised 

Statutes of Nova Scotia, 1989, the Motor Vehicle Act, hereby make regulations respecting 

a prohibition on parking vehicles in the forms set forth in Schedule “A” attached hereto. 

 

This Order is effective December 1, 2023 to and including April 15, 2024.  

 

Dated and made at Antigonish, in the Municipality of the County of Antigonish, Nova 

Scotia, this _____ day of November, 2023 

 

 

 
__________________________________________ 
Municipal Traffic Authority for the 
Municipality of the County of Antigonish 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Agenda Page 57 of 70



 

Winter Parking Regulation Page 2 

 

Schedule “A” 
 

 Regulations respecting the Winter Parking Ban made by the Provincial Traffic  
Authority under subsection 202(1) of Chapter 293 of the Revised Statutes of  

Nova Scotia, 1989, the Motor Vehicle Act 
 
 

Citation 
 

1. These Regulations may be cited as the Winter Parking Ban Regulations. 
 
Limitation on Parking 
 

2. Notwithstanding that certain traffic signs have been erected which may permit motor 
vehicles to park or stand upon sections of highway during the hours stated thereon, no 
owner, driver or person having control or custody of any vehicle shall park such vehicle 
upon any highway or any highway in the communities or subdivisions listed in Appendix 
“A”: 

 
 (a) between the hours of 12:01 a.m. and 7:00 a.m.; 

 
 (b) in such a manner as to hinder, inconvenience or prevent the removal of snow or 

ice from such highway unless it is attended by a person authorized and capable of 
operating it on a highway; 

 
(c) from one hour after any snowstorm has commenced to two hours after such 
snowstorm has stopped. 
  

 
Exception 
 

4. Section 2 shall not apply to: 
 
(a) a motor vehicle operated by an emergency service provider. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Agenda Page 58 of 70



 

Winter Parking Regulation Page 3 

 

Appendix A 

 

 

• Appleseed Drive 
• Arbor Drive Extension / Trotters Lane 
• Beaton Court 
• Ceilidh Ridge Subdivision 

o Celtic Drive 
• Crockett Country 

o Townsend Street 
o Crockett Court 
o Brierly Way 
o Brookside Way 
o Pottery Lane 

• East Gate Ridge 
o Catherine Drive 

• Hamlet Court Subdivision 
o Florence Circle 
o Alex Terrace 

• Highland Drive Extension 
• Lochaber Road Estates 

o Keating Court 
• Market Street 
• Mount Cameron Estates 

o Mount Cameron Circle 
o Harbour View Drive 
o Harbour View Court 
o Parkway Circle 
o Smith’s Way 
o MacPherson Street 
o Hargreaves Way 
o Duykers Drive 

• Nova Landing 
• Old Highway 245 (Sylvan Valley) 
• Parkhurst Subdivision 

o Elliott Lane 
o MacInnis Way 

• Pine Ridge Subdivision 
o Pine Ridge Road 
o Lorraine Lane 
o Coady Court 
o David Street 

• Sears Ross Drive (formerly Road D-38) 

• Shieling Court 
• Silver Birch Estates 

o Silver Birch Drive (portion) 
o Linden Drive 
o Red Maple Drive 

• Thorne Ridge Subdivision 
o Vincent’s Way 
o Annie’s Bluff 
o Bens Brae 
o Noah’s Park 

• Triton Brook Road 
• Village Lane 
 
 

 

 
 

Agenda Page 59 of 70



 
MEMO FOR DIRECTION 

 
TO: MUNICIPAL COUNCIL 

FROM: SHIRLYN DONOVAN, STRATEGIC INITIATIVES COORDINATOR 

SUBJECT: STRATEGIC PRIORITIES UPDATE 

DATE: NOVEMBER 14, 2023 

 

ADMINISTRATION                                                                                                                                     

Cellular and Broadband Connectivity 

Cellular - On October 26, the Province of Nova Scotia announced they were taking action to 

make sure all Nova Scotians have access to cellular service, no matter where they live or travel. 

$47.3 million was committed to expand telecommunications infrastructure and communications 

networks throughout the province. We immediately contacted MLA Thompson to reiterate our 

readiness to expand cellular connectivity in Antigonish County. We have had an initial call with 

Build Nova Scotia who is leading the project to share our work to date. Build Nova Scotia is also 

looking to pilot Starlink satellites on emergency vehicles to allow wifi calling. Staff have 

connected them with fire chiefs from Four Valleys and North Shore Volunteer Fire Departments 

who are eager to participate in the pilot. 

Broadband – Connections continue to be made particularly in the Heatherton area. Monastery 

and the remaining scope expansion projects will be (hopefully) completed in 2024. They are 

anticipating to have Monastery completed by the end of April 2024 with scope expansions 

following soon after. 

Events and Tourism 

The Tourism Strategy has been completed and presented to Joint Council.  Next steps include 

consultation with stakeholders regarding a marketing levy and, if Council deems it appropriate,  

passing of the bylaw which will take place this winter with the hopes of having the bylaw take 

effect April 1, 2024. This will create a source of revenue for tourism and event related initiatives. 

Asset Management 

An application has been made to the federal Housing Accelerator Fund to fund the completion 

of a detailed Asset Management Plan, which will provide the information required to guide 

future investments in municipal infrastructure to support housing growth.  This will build on 

work completed to date in collaboration with the Province and AIM Network. 

 
 

Agenda Page 60 of 70



 

2023 Strategic Priorities Update   2 
 

FINANCE 

Infrastructure Funding 

The Municipality has successfully secured funding for multiple infrastructure priorities since 

2020.   

Over $20 million was secured through the Investing in Canada Infrastructure Program for the 

Antigonish AT Corridor and Net-Zero Community Buildings.  The County also secured just under 

$3.5 million through the ICIP for water system expansions in Lanark and St. Josephs.   

Approximately $720,000 has been secured through the J-Class Road Cost Sharing program for 

various roads since 2020, approximately $745,000 through the Sustainable Services Growth 

Fund, and $25,000 was secured through the provincial Beatification & Streetscapes program for 

the Antigonish County Court House. 

The Municipality was also able to secure $50,000 towards the purchase and installation of a 

generator for the Municipal Administration Centre from the Nova Scotia Community Generators 

Fund. 

An application has been submitted to ACOA Fiona Relief Fund for approximately $500,000 for 

emergency shelter and supplies. 

An application has been submitted for the federal Housing Accelerator Fund and applications 

are being developed for the Sustainable Communities Challenge Fund and the Municipal Capital 

Growth Program.   

OEM Regional Energy Management Plan late 2019 but finalized early 2020. Roving OEM with Efficiency 

NS, the municipality was subsidized $15,000 and received $15,000 in kind from Efficiency One. $15,000 

in kind from Efficiency One. 

Community Accessibility was applied for April 2021 to install a universal accessible washroom and 

$13,400 was received. 

The County has also been successful with numerous grants from the provincial Municipal 

Innovation Program, which supports innovation and municipal cooperation rather than capital, 

including: 

• $175,000 for Strait-IT Start-Up 

• $375,000 for Plan Eastern Nova 

• $150,000 for Town and County of Antigonish Exploration of Consolidation 

 

 
 

Agenda Page 61 of 70



 

2023 Strategic Priorities Update   3 
 

PUBLIC WORKS 

Water Utility Development 

The following water utility expansion and renewal projects have been completed since 2020: 

• South River Road Waterline Replacement 

• Trunk 7 Waterline Replacement 

• St. Andrews Waterline Extension 

• Trunk 7 & Trunk 4 Water Service Replacement & Relocation 

• West River Waterline Relocation 

• St. Joseph’s Water System Expansion 

• Lanark Waterline Extension 

In 2021 each of the County’s water systems was amalgamated into the Antigonish County Water 

Utility and new rates were approved by the UARB.  The amalgamation of the utilities and 

establishment of new rates put all water systems on a more sustainable footing.   

Also in early 2021, the Town and County Councils approved a protocol for a collaborative 

approach to exploring and securing long-term source water.  In 2022, Councils requested the 

County and Town be consolidated into one municipal unit; further work to assess options for 

joint water-service collaboration between the County and Town awaits the outcome of that 

request. 

Next Generation Solid Waste Management 

Little work has proceeded in lieu of other priorities. 

RECREATION 

Active Transportation 

Construction is progressing well on the Trunk 4 AT Corridor and the section between James St. & 

Church is on track to be completed by the end of November. Below are photos of the project 

taken on October 29, 2023.  It is not uncommon to see residents already using the Multi-Use 

Path as illustrated in the last photo. 

Design for phase 3 of the project is 75% complete and under review.  It is expected that an RFP 

for this phase will be issued in early 2024, with construction to begin in Spring of the same year. 

 

 

  

 
 

Agenda Page 62 of 70



 

2023 Strategic Priorities Update   4 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Residents enjoying the multi-use 

path. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Community Hubs 

In 2018, our Recreation Department created Communities in Movement: A Recreation and 

Physical Activity Plan for Antigonish County. After lots of work and community consultation, 12 

Community Hubs were identified within the County. 

By definition, a Community Hub is a conveniently located public space that is recognized and 

valued in the local community as a gathering place for people and as access point for a wide 

range of community activities, programs, services, and events. 

 

Photo taken from James St.  

intersection looking East. 

Trunk 4/ West St./HWY 7 

Roundabout 
. 

Photo taken from West St.  

intersection looking East. 

 
 

Agenda Page 63 of 70



 

2023 Strategic Priorities Update   5 
 

One of the objectives in the Communities in Movement Plan is: 

To support Community Hubs as ongoing vibrant gathering places, centres of recreation and 

social development, as well as avenues for the development of new ideas. 

In November 2019, our Rec team set off to begin the Community Hubs project and began 

conversations in some of our communities, unfortunately the project was put on pause due to 

the pandemic. We have begun to reconnect with communities and have met with four 

communities to date. Additional community meetings are scheduled throughout the month of 

November. 

The purpose of community hub meetings is to reconnect with community volunteers to: 

• Explore ways to increase movement, recreational opportunities, and social connections 

within community. 

• Discuss support and resources for preexisting activities. 

• Improve communication between the Municipality and Community Hubs. 

The information gathered from the community meetings will be compiled and reviewed by the 

recreation team to identify areas that align with our mandate and that we can potentially 

support.  The recreation team will develop an action plan and recommendations for 

implementation. It is anticipated that this plan will be brought forward to the municipal council 

for review and feedback in February/March 2024. 

SUSTAINABILITY 

Community Solar Project 

The ICIP Net Zero Community Buildings Project was officially announced in July 2022. The total 

budget for this project is $1,497,012.00 This breaks down to a federal contribution of 

$598,805.00 (40%) and a provincial contribution of $498,954.00 (33.3%). The Municipality is 

contributing $399,253.00 (26.7%).  

Actions  

LED Light Retrofits Tender was released on Feb 22 and closed on March 14, 2023. Council 

awarded to DeCoste Electrical & Ventilation Ltd with Bid Price: $121,427.00 +HST. 

Heat Pump installation and commissioning Tender was released on March 10th and closed on 

March 23rd, 2023. Council awarded to Carmichael Engineering Ltd with Bid Price of $120,128.00 

+HST. 

Solar PV system tender was released March 24th and closed on April 20th, 2023, Council 

awarded to Geddes and Murphy Electric Ltd with bid price of $692,950.00 +HST. 

Community groups have all successfully partnered with Project Management team and 

contractors for installations. 

 
 

Agenda Page 64 of 70



 

2023 Strategic Priorities Update   6 
 

As of November 2, 2023, Lighting is ongoing, as there are only a couple of lights at 3 locations 

we are waiting on. AH Roy has inspected all other installations. 

All heat pumps are installed and inspections have been completed. 

Solar is in final planning stage. Installation of the support structures for the ground mounted 

systems has started. 

Insulation tenders are being developed, plan to release early October for late fall install. 

We are still on target for the project to be completed by 2025 instead of 2027. 

 Solar Energy 

Onsite solar field is up and running. Energy production was interrupted by Tropical Storm Fiona 

September 2022, it was summer before work on repairs to the solar field occurred, due to 

supply and contractor availability. Early in 2024 we will complete an energy production report 

and assess our ROI to date, and update our projected; we have put this off to ensure we have a 

true representation of production at all times of year. 

Current and Future Opportunities being explored: 

Currently looking at funding options (Sustainable Communities Challenge Fund managed by 

NSFM) for a round 2 of our Net Zero Project to include fire depts, fire halls and search and 

rescue buildings. And working with the Clean Foundation for 3 years support regarding Climate 

Change, focusing on Energy Management and renewables (include energy planning, security, 

investigating options for homeowners), Flood and Draught Resilience, and Education and 

Capacity Building to include emergency and disaster response and resilience. 

PLANNING 

Mandatory Minimum Planning 

A mailout will be going out to residents in District 1, 2 and 3 this week. 

Eastern Antigonish Planning Strategy and Bylaw 

A community open house was held on November 1 in Havre Boucher, one session in the 

afternoon and one in the evening. The sessions were well attended.  

 

 
 

Agenda Page 65 of 70



 

November 2023 Staff report  1 
 

MEMO FOR INFORMATION 
 

TO: Committee of the Whole 

FROM: GLENN HORNE, CAO 

SUBJECT: NOVEMBER 2023 STAFF REPORT 

DATE: 14/11/2023 

ADMINISTRATION DEPARTMENT 

• The Solar Field at municipal office is up and running. Solar report will be facilitated this 
winter. 

• Mural Projects 
o District 4 

▪ Working with School board to identify a space at the schools on Appleseed 
for installation.  

▪ Exploring use of Canada Day art as mural, the original is on display in lobby.  

o District 7  
▪ Heatherton and Area Community Centre painting is complete and hoping 

to unveil during community tree lighting a community meeting week of 
Nov 13th will provide date. 

• Diversity, Inclusion and Reconciliation 
o Staff is working with the Manager at Paqtnkek to complete list of Mi’kmaq place 

names to be added to provincial signage in our community.  

• Accessibility 
o The tender for upgrades to the Accessible Washroom will be released in coming 

weeks, plan includes bringing recommendation to Council and have the work 
completed late Fall early Winter. 

• ICIP- Net Zero for Community Buildings 
o All heat pumps are installed, waiting on lights for 3 changes, solar installs have 

started.  
o Project is on schedule for completion by early 2024. 

• EMP & Generator 
o Light retrofits of municipal buildings as outlined in our Energy Management Plan 

are ongoing.   
o Delay in parts arriving has delayed the completion of the electrical and 

communications switch over and generator installation.  
o End of November the parts should be onsite. 

• CAO Glenn Horne attended the NSFM conference in Halifax during the week of November 
7-10th. 

 
 

Agenda Page 66 of 70



 

November 2023 Staff report  2 
 

• Occupational Health and Safety & Wellness 
o  2nd annual Safety Day is booked for November 22nd. 
o Ongoing monitoring and inspections planned.  
o Next meeting is scheduled for Nov 15th 

• REMC Blaise MacDonald is finalizing an application to ACOA for the recently announced 
$9 million fund to help improve the readiness of designated comfort centres in areas 
impacted by Hurricane Fiona for future climate-induced weather events. 

• Construction work to replace windows and undertaken interior painting is scheduled to 
take place during the weeks of November 13-16 and November 27th – December 1st, when 
Court is not scheduled in the building. 

• Preparations are underway for a regular Joint Town and County Joint Council meeting, to 
take place on Wednesday November 29th. 

• County and Town staff is working together to plan holiday season celebrations in the 
community.  

FINANCE DEPARTMENT 

• Of the 13,786 property tax invoices mailed out in May 2023 when the F2023/24 budget 
was approved – 1,715 tax reminder notices were mailed out the beginning of October 
2023 (to date -> 87.56% of Fiscal 2023/24 tax billings have been collected). 

• 1,715 water bills were sent in the mail as part of the County’s regular semi-monthly billing 
cycle.   

• Brenda MacDonald joined the Finance Team in September 2023 as our Reception and 
Administrative support staff. 

• Ongoing day to day operations (collections, reconciliations, payroll, property tax and 
utility customer maintenance, ad hoc provincial reporting, etc.). 

• Two Finance staff attended the Tax Collector’s Conference. 

• Strait IT Board meetings occur monthly. 

• Finance staff support the Antigonish Arena in the role of financial accounting (day to day 
accounting, year end audit preparation, reconciliations, etc.). 

• Financial Provincial Reporting has been submitted to the province (Statement of Estimate 
reports, Annual Expenditure Report, Capital Investment Plan, etc.). 

• In collaboration with Public Works, completed the annual Data Call reporting which is 
submitted to Divert NS. 

• Professional Development is ongoing. 

• Finance providing support to various projects in Recreation (mini-pitch project, sport-hub 
registration). 

• Two Finance staff are members of the OHS & Wellness committee which meet monthly. 

 
 

Agenda Page 67 of 70



 

November 2023 Staff report  3 
 

• Finance provides support to various Administration Department ongoing initiatives. 

RECREATION DEPARTMENT 

Notable Things that Have Happened This Month 

• Working with Sport Hub to: 
o get online booking for school use finalized. Very close to sending it to the schools 

for them to view schedules online. 

• On-going work with the Mult-Sport program 

• Working on a plan to bring back the Swim program for when the pool re-opens. 

• Free Recreation Transportation. Completed and looking to extend.  Also looking for 
feedback from Facebook users 

Major Project Updates 

• Make Your Move Antigonish 
o A few evaluation projects have been completed: Counts, Accelerometry, and Phone 

Survey 
o One other evaluation rolling out currently: Online Survey 
o Launched: Make Your Move at Work here at the municipal buildings 
o Working on Community Signage 

• Community Hubs Project 
o We have scheduled meetings throughout the hubs to meet with key contacts within 

communities. A few goals of meetings: 
- Reconnect and reestablish communications. 
- Intro MYMA 
- Conversations around what is currently happening within communities and how 

the Rec dept can support. 

• Trunk 4 Active Transportation Corridor 
o Phase 1 & 2 of the Active Transportation Corridor is nearing completion and should 

open within the next couple of weeks. 

• Sport Nova Scotia EDI project 
o Work is ongoing on the:  

- ScotiaRISE Mini-Pitch 
- Barca Foundation Partnership 
- Sport Hub Collaoration and Community Engagement 
- Para-Sport Initiatives 

o New connections/conversations starting up with various groups. 

Upcoming Events  

• Sunday Skates started November 5th ever Sunday until March 31st 5-6pm at Antigonish 
Arena 

• Holiday Skate December 10th – Working on getting it to be a Holiday Sledge/Skate 

 
 

Agenda Page 68 of 70



 

November 2023 Staff report  4 
 

PUBLIC WORKS 

• Waterline extension along Highway 337 is nearing completion. 

• St. Joseph’s waterline extension has been completed and the tower is now under 
construction. 

• Vincent’s Way sidewalk is now completed. 

• Water & Sewer relocates for roundabouts is not complete. 

• A new generator has been set up at the Water Treatment Plant at Lower South River. 

• Staff has equipment ready for winter maintenance of streets and sidewalks.  They were 
out and in use for the snowfall on the morning of November 9th. 

 
 

Agenda Page 69 of 70



Antigonish County

Building Permits (January 1 - September 30)

2023 2022 2023 2022

Residential 

New 36 48 19,066,425$   21,652,334$   

Mobile Homes 19 26 3,647,198       4,677,650       

Additions, Alterations and Renovations 31 37 3,895,058       3,154,039       

Garages and Accessory Buildings 44 52 1,525,241       3,065,900       

Multiple Units 1 18 9,433,000       6,421,500       

131 181 37,566,922$  38,971,423$  

Agricultural, Commercial or Industrial

Agricultural 1 7 100,000$        958,285$        

Commercial 15 11 2,962,144       1,283,250       

Industrial 0 1 -                   38,000             

16 19 3,062,144$     2,279,535$     

Institutional Buildings

New 1 0 2,300,000$     -$                 

Additions and Alterations 0 0 -                   -                   

1 0 2,300,000$     -$                 

Other 19 3 434,630$        2,200$            

Total 167 203 43,363,696$  41,253,158$  

Permits Value

 
 

Agenda Page 70 of 70


	CoW231114 Agenda Final.pdf
	Strategic Priorities Chart October 2022 APPROVED & Amended.pdf
	CoW231024 Minutes.pdf
	Electoral Boundary Review Council Size Report Ph 1 Final.pdf
	Executive Summary
	1 Introduction
	1.1 Project Mandate
	1.2 Study Process
	1.3 Study Conduct

	2 Current Governance
	2.1 Council Size
	2.1.1 Nova Scotia Benchmarking
	2.1.2 Current and Future Population

	2.2 Council Consultation
	2.3 Community Consultation
	2.3.1 Council Size Public Meeting
	2.3.2 Online Council Size Survey
	2.3.3 Council Size Considerations
	2.3.4 Other Considerations


	3 Past Boundary Reviews
	3.1 1999 Boundary Review
	3.2 2006 Boundary Review
	3.3 2014 Boundary Review
	3.4 Summary

	4 Boundary Delineation
	4.1 Boundary Criteria
	4.1.1 Number of Electors
	4.1.2 Relative Parity of Voting Power
	4.1.3 Population Density
	4.1.4 Community of Interest
	4.1.5 Geographic Size

	4.2 Preliminary Boundary Scenarios
	4.2.1 Ten-District Scenarios
	4.2.2 Eight-District Scenario
	4.2.3 Nine-District Scenario

	4.3 Summary and Recommendation
	4.3.1 Summary
	4.3.2 Recommendation
	4.3.3 Next Steps


	Appendix A Council Size Survey Results
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page

	2023 - November 14 - Winter Parking Regulations Memo Package.pdf
	2023 - Memo - Winter Parking Regulations.pdf
	Winter Parking Regulations 2023-24 - Draft to RCMP.pdf

	2023 - 11 - November Staff Report.pdf
	2023 09 September Antigonish County YTD Report (002).pdf
	September 2023 report




